
 

 

 
Agenda for Licensing and Enforcement 

Committee 
Wednesday, 17th July, 2024, 10.00 am 
 
Members of Licensing and Enforcement Committee 

Councillors: B Bailey, I Barlow, K Bloxham (Vice-Chair), 
M Chapman, O Davey, T Dumper, S Gazzard, J Heath, 

R Jefferies, Y Levine, T McCollum, C Nicholas, J O'Leary, 
S Westerman and J Whibley (Chair)  

 
Venue: Council Chamber, Blackdown House, Honiton 

 
Contact: Sarah Jenkins; 

01395 517406 email sjenkins@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Tuesday, 9 July 2024 
 

This meeting is being recorded for subsequent publication on the Council’s website and will 
be streamed live to the East Devon District Council Youtube Channel 
 

 
1 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 7) 

2 Apologies   

3 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest 

 

4 Public Speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 

 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the press) have 
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 

with in this way. 
 

7 Committee Update – Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Taxis & General 

Licensing  (Pages 8 - 12) 

8 Hackney carriage fare review update  (Pages 13 - 21) 

9 Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2025- 2028  (Pages 22 - 75) 

 

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 

Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


 

 
 

Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 
public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 

it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 

you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 
meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 
equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  

 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 

disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 
asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 
oral commentary during the meeting. The Chairman has the power to control public 

recording and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 

Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Question Time will be 
recorded. 
 

Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Licensing and Enforcement Committee held at 

Council Chamber, Blackdown House, Honiton on 8 May 2024 

 
Attendance list at end of document 

The meeting started at 10.03 am and ended at 11.48 am 
 

 
23    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 13 March 2024 were agreed and signed as 

a true record. 
 

24    Declarations of interest  

 

Minute 30. Review of taxi rank provision in East Devon and proposals for amendment. 

Councillor Tim Dumper, Other Registerable Interest, Councillor is a member of Exmouth 
Town Council, a member of the DCC East Devon Highways and Traffic Order Committee 

and Chair of Exmouth Transport Partnership. 
 

25    Public Speaking  

 

There were no members of the public registered to speak. 

 
26    Matters of urgency  

 

There were no matters of urgency. 
 

27    Confidential/exempt item(s)  

 

There were no confidential / exempt items. 
 

28    Committee update report  

 

The Licensing Officer presented the report which provided an update on the activities of 
the Licensing Service under the Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Taxi legislation 
and General Licensing including Street Trading and Pavement Licences. 

 
The Licensing Manager highlighted the following points: 

 A high number of Licensing Act 2003 applications, including Temporary Event Notices, 
had been received during the reporting period. 

 The Gambling Commission annual return 2023 to 2024 had been submitted. 

 It was noted that the Gambling Commission had confirmed that it is still considering the 
responses to the public consultations held in summer 2023.  The Commission will not be 
in a position to amend Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities before the deadline for 
review of their Statement of Gambling Policy.  The Commission had therefore advised 
Local Authorities to continue with reviewing their Statement of Gambling Policy.  The 
Statement could be reviewed again when amended Statutory Guidance has been 
received. 

 The reporting period had seen a slight drop in the number of taxi driver licences and a 
small increase in the number of taxi vehicle licences. 

 Under the mandatory reporting requirements, two entries had been made to the National 
Register of Revocations, Refusals and Suspensions. 

page 3

Agenda Item 1



Licensing and Enforcement Committee 8 May 2024 
 

 Licensing Officers had attended the meeting of the East Devon Taxi Association held on 
23 April 2024. 

 At the time of writing the report, 29 street trading consents are in operation. 
 Staffing levels have been addressed with the recruitment of an experienced previous 

Licensing Officer and recruitment to replace a current post holder is currently underway. 

 
In response to a question from the Committee, the Licensing Officer advised that clearer 

door signage for taxis would be considered to make the operating company name more 
visible. 

 
The Committee thanked the Licensing Manager and agreed to note the report. 
 

29    Hackney Carriage fare tariff review  

 

The Licensing Officer presented the report which asked the Committee to consider a 
request from the East Devon Taxi Association for an increase to the East Devon hackney 

carriage fare tariff.  If approved, the Committee were asked to indicate their preferred 
option from the revised fare tariff tables set out in Appendix G of the report, and to 
authorise the publication of a public notice setting out the proposed fare tariff in a local 

newspaper and at the Council offices in line with the powers conferred by Section 65 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
The report contained a suggested new fare tariff table based on the current method of 
calculating hackney carriage fare tariff increases.  As previously agreed, a separate 

report would be brought to a future meeting with a view to implementing a fare setting 
formula in 2025 based on the Guildford Borough Council methodology. 

 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Department of Transport’s Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England. 

 
In presenting the report, the Licensing Officer also highlighted the costs of running a 

hackney carriage vehicle in East Devon [section 8] and the draft revised fare tables 
based on an increase of 5%, 10% or 15% [Appendix G]. 
 

Should the Committee agree to revise the fare tables, a public consultation, with a 
minimum period of 14 days, would be undertaken.  If no objections are received, the 

revised fare tables would come into immediate effect.  If objections are received, the 
matter would be brought back to the Committee for further consideration. 
 

Questions and comments from the Committee included the following points: 
 The very poor condition of the roads is seriously impacting taxi operators, and this should 

be taken up with Devon County Council. 

 Taxi Association meetings are held in Exmouth which has the largest amount of trade 
although there are other operators in the rest of the district. 

 Implementing the Guildford methodology would ensure that any future fare tariff increases 
take account of the frequency and magnitude of repairs, including cost of tyres. 

 The fare tariff tables show the maximum costs which can be charged by taxi operators 
and not the costs which have to be charged to the public. 

 There was discussion on the league table of fares as published in the Private Hire & Taxi 
Monthly magazine and how various factors such as the rural nature of the district and the 
resulting dead mileage can impact on the authority’s position in the league table. 

 The view was expressed that it is not the right time for a fare increase due to the on-going 
cost of living crisis and the impact on the travelling public. 

page 4



Licensing and Enforcement Committee 8 May 2024 
 

 Regarding the cost of fuel, the current exceptional fuel prices surcharge, adopted in 2022, 
had been retained in the figures shown in the report.  This enables an extra charge of 10p 
to be added to the fare when the price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on the 
latest available AA Fuel Price Report. 

 A fare increase was needed due to year on year cost increases. 

 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The East Devon hackney carriage fare tariff be increased by 10% as shown in Appendix 
G on page 49 of the report. 

2. The Council’s powers under Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 be exercised to move to public consultation on the proposed 
amendments to the East Devon hackney carriage fare tariff. 

3. The requisite public notice of 14 days be given of the proposed amendments as required 
by Section 65 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

4. If no written objection or representation is received relating to the notice given under 
Section 65 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 with the 
period specified in the notice, that the amended fare tariff be implemented with immediate 
effect. 

5. If valid objection is received relating to the notice given under Section 65 (2) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the matter be returned to the Licensing 
and Enforcement Committee for further consideration. 

 
 

30    Review of taxi rank provision in East Devon and proposals for 

amendment  

 

The Committee considered the report which set out the request from Devon County 

Highways to undertake improvement and several amendments to taxi ranks within East 
Devon, following a review of taxi rank provision across the District Council area. 

 
Most of the proposals from Devon County Highways are in respect of plans to upgrade 
the status of the ranks in local Traffic Regulation Orders to ‘No Stopping At Any Time’.  

Several additional proposals related to recommendations for the amendment of existing 
taxi ranks as summarised in sections 1.2.2 to 1.2.5 of the report. 

 
The Licensing Officer outlined the background to the matters set out in the report which 
had previously been considered by the Committee on 15 November 2023 and 13 March 

2024.  The Licensing Officer drew the Committee’s attention to sections 1.2.9 to 1.2.11 of 
the report which set out the impact on EDDC’s current powers of the Devon County 

Highways proposals to amend the relevant traffic orders. 
 
Mr James Bench and Mr Matt Lake of Devon County Highways were in attendance to 

answer any questions. 
 

Responses to questions and discussion included the following points: 
 All East Devon hackney carriage drivers had been advised of the proposed amendments 

and most of the eight responses related to Exmouth. 

 It was noted that any East Devon District Council licensed hackney carriage driver can 
use any rank in the district. 

 Currently EDDC’s powers enable the Council to prosecute drivers who contravene taxi 
rank regulations, and it was considered advisable for EDDC to retain such powers under 
licensing legislation. 

 Devon County Highways was aware of the recommendations in the report.  Should the 
recommendations be agreed, two consultations would be run in tandem, one by DCC for 

page 5



Licensing and Enforcement Committee 8 May 2024 
 

the traffic order changes and one by EDDC for other changes to taxi ranks, with further 
discussion and work between the two authorities required. 

 It was noted that the recommendations in the report, if agreed, would maintain the status 
quo. 

 The Committee’s attention was drawn to Proposal 3: Victoria Road, Exmouth and the 
proposal to remove one car space on the existing taxi rank to facilitate a time-limited 
disabled space.  The East Devon Taxi Association’s response to this proposal as part of 
the previous consultation was that this would disrupt the natural flow of the taxi rank and 
that a more appropriate solution would be to use the first space of the taxi rank on the 
Strand, as this is never used by taxis and would not disrupt the flow of the rank.  An 
alternative proposal, which would be acceptable to DCC, would be to move the proposed 
disabled space to the western end of the taxi rank in Victoria Road [page 59 of the report] 
and this would be detailed in the DCC traffic order. 

 
RESOLVED 

1. To exercise the Council’s powers under Section 63 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to approve moving to public consultation on the 
proposed amendments of the existing taxi ranks as set out in 1.2.1 to 1.2.5 of the report. 

2. That the requisite public notice be given of the proposed appointment as required by 
Section 63 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

3. That if no written objection or representation is received relating to the notice given under 
Section 63 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 within the 
28 day period following recommendation will be deemed appointed. 

4. That following the appointment of the taxi ranks Devon County Council Highways 
Authority be requested to put in place the appropriate legal provisions and to mark out the 
ranks. 

5. To indicate the support of East Devon District Council for the plans to upgrade the status 
of the ranks in Local Traffic Order Regulations, and to improve signage and markings as 
put forward by Devon County Council Licensing. 

 
The Chair thanked Mr Bench and Mr Lake for attending the meeting. 

 
31    Pavement Licensing update report  

 

The Committee considered a report which set out the changes to the temporary 
pavement licensing regime under the Business & Planning Act 2020 and the impact of 

the changes to this regime made by the Levelling-Up and Regeneration Act 2023. 
 

The Licensing Manager highlighted the key points as follows: 
 The introduction of maximum standard capped fees for new and renewal applications at 

£500 and £350 respectively. 

 An increase of the maximum term for which a licence can be granted has increased from 
1 to 2 years. 

 Consultation and determination periods have increased from 7 days to 14 days. 
 Pavement licences will be issued with mandatory, national and local conditions. 

 Members were asked to note that Devon County Council has now stopped issuing 
pavement licences due to an amendment of Section 115E (5) of the Highways Act. 

 Members were also asked to note that a recommendation from the Committee to Cabinet 
will be required to set a level for the proposed fees increase and a further report to the 
Committee would follow to outline the proposals, together with a draft policy for 
consideration. 

 

The Committee thanked the Licensing Manager for her report and noted the changes to 
temporary pavement licensing and proposed transitionary arrangements and work plan 

as outlined in the report. 
 

page 6



Licensing and Enforcement Committee 8 May 2024 
 

 
 

 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 

K Bloxham (Vice-Chair) 

V Bonetta 
T Dumper 

P Faithfull 
S Gazzard 
S Hawkins 

Y Levine 
S Westerman 

J Whibley (Chair) 
 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 

I Barlow 
R Collins 

 
Officers in attendance: 

Lee Staples 

Sarah Jenkins, Democratic Services Officer 
Phillippa Norsworthy, Licensing Manager 

Giles Salter, Solicitor 
Emily Westlake, Licensing Officer 
 
Others in attendance: 

James Bench, Devon County Highways 

Matt Lake, Devon County Highways 
 
Councillor apologies: 

M Chapman 
J Heath 

R Jefferies 
 
 

 
 

 
Chair   Date:  

 

page 7



Report to: Licensing and Enforcement Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17 July 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Committee Update – Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Taxis & General Licensing. 

Report summary: 

The report provides an update on the activities of the Licensing Service under the 
Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Taxi legislation and General Licensing including 
Street Trading and Pavement Licences.   

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the report be noted.   

Reason for recommendation: 

To keep the Council’s statutory committee up to date with current arrangements relating to the 
Licensing Service. 

 

Officer: Phillippa Norsworthy, Licensing Manager (Governance and Licensing).   

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact. 

Climate change Low Impact.   

Risk: Low Risk.   

Links to background information  Alcohol in licensed pavement areas (accessible) - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)   

Consultation on the VAT Treatment of Private Hire Vehicles - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
page 8

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/alcohol-in-licensed-pavement-areas/alcohol-in-licensed-pavement-areas-accessible
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/alcohol-in-licensed-pavement-areas/alcohol-in-licensed-pavement-areas-accessible


Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 
 

Report in full 

1 Licensing Act 2003 

1.1 Applications received, licences issued, premises visited and number of hearings.   

1.2 The reporting period dates from 8 May 2024 until the date this report was written, 8 July 
2024.  This will be referred to as the ‘reporting period’.   

1.3 During the reporting period and at the time of writing this report the licensing team received 
and processed 231 applications, these all included, new premises licence applications, full 
and minor variations, transfer of the premises licence, DPS variations and Temporary Event 
Notices (TENs).  As well as other miscellaneous administrative functions.   

1.4 A total of 12 personal licences were issued in the reporting period.   

1.5  A total of 12 premises of interest were visited during the reporting period.   

1.6 No Licensing Act 2003 applications have been referred to the Licensing & Enforcement 
Sub-Committee since 6 March 2024 and at the time of writing this report.   

1.7 Members were sent notification on 13 June 2024 with information regarding a Home Office 
Public Consultation in relation to ‘Alcohol in licensed pavement areas’.  A link to the Home 
Office consultation can be found at ‘Links to background information’ at the head of this 
report.  The consultation is due to end on 11 July 2024 and to date, one response was 
received from a Member of the Licensing & Enforcement Committee in respect of the 
notification that was sent to Members on 13 June.   

1.8 The online consultation was completed on 1 July 2024, and the preferred option as set out 
in the notification to Members was option 1.  

 

2 Pavement Licencing 

2.1 On 31 March 2024 the Levelling Up & Regeneration Act 2023 (LU&RA 2023) came into 
force.  This means that the temporary pavement licences issued under the Business & 
Planning Act 2020 are now permanent by way of the LU&RA 2023.  A Devon wide working 
group has been established from the Devon Licensing Officers Group (DLOG) and work is 
underway to produce a draft policy to be used by Local Authorities across Devon.   

 

3 Gambling Act 2005 

3.1 The Gambling Commission circulates a regular bulletin for licensing authorities outlining 
changes in legislation and any enforcement action taken.  The latest bulletin can be found 
here e-bulletin 1 July - Gambling Commission newsletter (mailchi.mp) 

3.2 Members were notified at the previous meeting of the Licensing & Enforcement Committee 
of the statutory requirement of the Local Authority to renew their Statement of Gambling 
Policy every 3 years.  

'As required by the Gambling Act 2005 each Licensing Authority is required to renew their 
Statement every 3 years. The renewal date in this current cycle is January 2025. The 

page 9

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/
https://mailchi.mp/gamblingcommission/ebulletinjune2017-7921619?e=e59e71add7


Commission is advising that you should make plans as to how to conduct this renewal 
process. 

Given the ongoing consultations regarding the Gambling Act it is very unlikely that we will 
be able to amend the Guidance to Licensing Authorities document in sufficient time for you 
to incorporate changes within your own Statement. 

Whilst it is a matter for local determination, we suggest that the Statement is refreshed in 
line with the requirements of the Act so as to be enforceable from January 2025. 

Thereafter we will publish a revised GLA which you can include in a refreshed Statement. 
You are permitted to revise your Statement within the 3-year timescale.' (Source: Institute of 
Licensing News 15/04/2024’.   

This position was also reinforced during a Gambling Commission training session for 
Licensing Officers held on 16th April.  

3.4 Based on the advice given by the Gambling Commission above, Officers have undertaken 
a summary review of the Statement of Gambling Policy and will be presenting a draft policy 
to Members in a separate report, with a view to considering any recommendations for minor 
amendment to the Policy that are required in order to publish an updated policy by the 
statutory deadline (31st January 2025).  Officers further propose that the Policy is reviewed 
again at such time as the Guidance to Local Authorities from the Gambling Commission is 
published. 

3.5 A separate report proposing a summary update to the Statement of Gambling Policy has 
been circulated to Members.   

 

4 Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

4.1 Applications Received and Licences Issued.   

4.2 Licensing Officers continue to work effectively by issuing licences upon receipt of fees and 
all relevant documentation.  The latest figures indicate a slight drop in the issue of hackney 
carriage driver licences, private hire drivers, vehicles, and operators. There has been a 
slight increase in the number of hackney carriage vehicle licences issued.     

 There are currently 25 outstanding applications in progress for new hackney carriage and 
private hire drivers.  Applications for new drivers have significantly increased within the last 
few months.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 10



Year 
 

Taxi Driver 
Licences 

Taxi Vehicle 
Licences 

Private Hire 
Drivers 

Private Hire 
Vehicles 

Private 
Hire 

Operators 

2020 155 126 40 32 18 

2021   156 129 41 37 19 

2022 153 135 52 40 22 

2023 155 133 49 42 24 

Feb 
2024 

 
146 

 
129 

 
51 

 
43 

 
26 

May 
2024 

 
144 

 
131 

 
51 

 
43 

 
27 

July 
2024 

 
143 

 
132 

 
49 

 
40 

 
26 

4.3 No entries to the National Register of Revocations, Refusals and Suspensions were made 
during the reporting period.  It is mandatory for local authorities in England to input details 
of individuals whose driver licences have been revoked, suspended or refused.    

4.4 The licensing team records and investigates complaints received by the public and reported 
by other drivers which is recognised as an effective procedure by the Department of 
Transport (DfT).  Two complaints relating to hackney carriage and private hire drivers were 
received during this reporting period.  The complaints related to cross border working and a 
complaint from a member of the public regarding a driver.   

4.5 Four referrals to the licensing sub-committee for taxi matters occurred during the reporting 
period. Referrals included; the determination of the suitability of a hackney carriage vehicle. 
Two fit and proper tests for drivers and to determine whether to licence a vehicle as a 
private hire vehicle which is over 5 years old for initial licensing.   

 

4.6 Hackney Carriage Fare Increase – Update to Members 

 A separate report will be submitted to Members.   

 

4.7 Meetings between Councillors, Taxi Proprietors and Officers. 

 Officers remain in regular contact with the East Devon Taxi Association (formerly the 
Exmouth Taxi Association) and continue to offer support through sharing information to all 
licenced drivers over email.  Officers have also committed to regularly attending the 
Association’s meetings.  The role of Officers at these meetings is primarily to answer 
questions from the Trade and to provide updates on any regulatory or policy changes. 

 

4.8 Consultation on the VAT Treatment of Private Hire Vehicles. 

4.9 An open consultation is currently underway regarding the potential tax impacts of recent 
High Court judgements on transport legislation on the private hire sector and its 
passengers. The open consultation can be viewed at ‘Links to background information’ at 
the top of this report.  

4.10 The consultation seeks views on potential government interventions that could help to 
mitigate any undue adverse effects on the Private Hire sector and its passengers.     

4.11 The open consultation will close on 8 August 2024.  

 

 

 

 

page 11



5 General Licensing – Street Trading Consents. 

 

5.1 Applications received, Street Trading Consents Issued.    

5.2 At the time of writing this report 29 street trading consents are in operation.  These include 
sole traders and traders as part of an event not held under a premises licence.   

 

 

6 Staffing within the Licensing Team. 

6.1 A new Licensing Support Officer was appointed on 1 July 2024.     

 

7 Councillor Training and Elections 

7.1 Training is mandatory to provide sufficient understanding for Members to determine 
contested applications at licensing sub-committee hearings and to withstand any challenges 
upon appeal.   

7.2 Further to the Councillor training sessions provided by the Institute of Licensing (IOL), 
subsequent catch up training for those not able to attend IOL training can be provided.    

 
7.3 The Licensing Act 2003 Councillor’s handbook (England and Wales) is also an informative 

briefing that was updated last year. 

 

 

Financial implications: 

 There are no financial implications.  

Legal implications: 

 There are no legal implications requiring comment.   

 

page 12

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/licensing-act-2003-councillors-handbook-england-and-wales-0


Report to: Licensing and Enforcement Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17th July 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Hackney Carriage Fare Review Update 

Report summary: 

The purpose of this report is to advise the Licensing & Enforcement Committee that the new 
Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares, agreed by the Licensing & Enforcement Committee 
at a meeting on the 8th May 2024, came into effect on the 18th June 2024 following the statutory 
advertisement and public consultation period and, following the receipt and subsequent withdrawal 
of an objection.   

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Licensing & Enforcement Committee note the contents of this report and the new 
Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares. 

Reason for recommendation: 

To update the Council’s Licensing & Enforcement Committee on the introduction of a new hackney 
carriage Table of Maximum Fares. 

 

Officer: Emily Westlake, Licensing Officer  Licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk  Tel: 01404 515616 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Communications and Democracy 

☐ Economy 

☐ Finance and Assets 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk;  

 

page 13

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk


Links to background information 

1. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (legislation.gov.uk) 
2. Taxi and private hire vehicle licensing best practice guidance for licensing authorities in 

England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
3. Agenda for Licensing and Enforcement Committee on Wednesday, 13th March, 2024, 

10.00 am - East Devon 
4. Agenda for Licensing and Enforcement Committee on Wednesday, 8th May, 2024, 10.00 

am - East Devon 
5. Midweek Herald (pagesuite.com) (p30) 
6. Exmouth Journal (pagesuite-professional.co.uk) (p34) 
7. Hackney carriage - Fares for hackney carriages - East Devon 
8. https://www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables 

 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 
 

Report in full 

 

1. Background Information - Licensing & Enforcement Committee 8th May 2024 

 

1.1. On the 8th May 2024, the Licensing & Enforcement Committee resolved to vary East 

Devon District Council’s Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares to effect a fare 

increase of approximately 10 percent and agreed to move to a 14 day public 

consultation on the proposed amendments, in accordance with Section 65 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  

 

1.2. A copy of proposed varied Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares agreed at that 

meeting can be found at APPENDIX A of this report.  

 

2. Public consultation 

 

2.1. Following the Licensing & Enforcement Committee’s resolution on the 8th May 2024 to 

vary the Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares, Licensing Officers arranged for 

the requisite public notice, giving notice of the proposed variation, to be published in 

two local newspapers and at the Council’s offices in Honiton and Exmouth. 

 

2.2. The notice was published in both the Midweek Herald and the Exmouth Journal on the 

22nd May 2024 and specified the period, of 14 days from the date of the first publication 

of the notice, within which (and the manner in which) objections to the table of fares 

could be made.  The notice stated that any objections to the variation of the Hackney 

Carriage Table of Maximum Fares were to be made in writing and received by Council 

by no later than midnight on Wednesday 5th June 2024.   

 

page 14

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1976/57/section/65
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance-for-licensing-authorities-in-england#taxi-fare-rates
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-best-practice-guidance-for-licensing-authorities-in-england#taxi-fare-rates
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=2135&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=2135&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=2136&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=2136&Ver=4
https://edition.pagesuite.com/html5/reader/production/default.aspx?pubname=&edid=77d9437a-0d90-4093-859d-729a43a5cd5c
https://edition.pagesuite-professional.co.uk/html5/reader/production/default.aspx?pubname=&edid=89000f18-2ed5-4b7a-ab1a-ff040b293771
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/licensing/taxi-licensing/hackney-carriage/fares-for-hackney-carriages/#article-content
https://www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-league-tables
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


2.3. The public notice also advised that if no objections were raised, the revised table of 

fares would take immediate effect on the 6th June 2024. 

 
2.4. A copy of the public notice can be found at APPENDIX B of this report and the 

newspaper notices can be viewed in the e-editions of the Midweek Herald and Exmouth 

Journal at links 5 and 6 in the “links to background information” section of this report. 

 
3. Objection received and withdrawn 

 

3.1. East Devon District Council received 1 objection to the variation of the Hackney 

Carriage Table of Maximum Fares and this was received during the statutory objection 

period, on the 28th May 2024. 

 

3.2. The objection came from a member of the East Devon taxi trade who raised concerns 

about the impact of the fare increase on members of the public who rely on taxi 

services for essential travel.  The objector acknowledged that there had been some 

increase in costs for running a taxi but stated that: 

 
3.2.1. fuel prices were lower than at the time of the previous fare rise 

3.2.2. the cost of second-hand cars was falling 

3.2.3. the issue of high tyre turnover could be solved by using higher quality, all weather 

or winter tyres 

3.2.4. garage costs had increased but this had been mainly offset by cars needing less 

major repairs 

 

3.3. Following receipt of the objection, Licensing Officers informed the taxi trade that the 

fare rise would not take immediate effect on the 6th June 2024 and instead, the 

objection would be referred for consideration at a future meeting of the Licensing & 

Enforcement Committee, at which the Committee would set a further date, not later 

than two months after the first specified date, on which the table of fares would come 

into force with or without modifications. 

 

3.4. On the 16th June 2024, the East Devon Taxi Association asked Licensing Officers to 

pass on an email, setting out the Taxi Association’s concerns about the delay in the 

introduction of a varied Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares, to both the 

Licensing & Enforcement Committee and the objector.  

 
3.5. The Taxi Association’s email stated that: a fare rise had been voted for at a meeting of 

the East Devon Taxi Association, open to all members of the East Devon taxi trade, 

where the consensus had been that a fare increase was necessary.  It stated that the 

Taxi Association were disappointed, especially for drivers struggling, that a decision on 

the fare tariff would now be postponed until a later meeting of the Licensing & 

Enforcement Committee.  It also explained that in their view - as all drivers were lawfully 

allowed to charge a lower fare than displayed on the meter but not a higher one - any 

individual drivers who objected to a fare increase would still have the option to charge a 

reduced fare, were an increased Table of Maximum Fares brought into operation.   

 
3.6. On the 18th June 2024 the Licensing Manager forwarded the content of the email to the 

objector and explained that these were not the views of East Devon District Council’s 
page 15



Licensing Authority and were being passed on at the request of the East Devon Taxi 

Association.   

 
3.7. Licensing Officers subsequently received an email from the objector, on the afternoon 

of the 18th June 2024, stating that they wished to withdraw their objection.  They 

explained that, having realised they were the only objector, they felt their views were in 

the minority and that the overall consensus appeared to be that a fare rise was 

necessary and wanted therefore to withdraw their representation.  The Licensing 

Authority accepted this email as withdrawal of the objection.    

 
3.8. Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 states that if 

all objections so made are withdrawn, the table of fares or variation shall come into 

operation on the date of the expiration of the period specified in the notice or the date of 

withdrawal of the objection or, if more than one, of the last objection, whichever is the 

later. 

 
3.9. Therefore, upon withdrawal of the only objection on the 18th June 2024, the variation of 

the Hackney Carriage Table of Fares came into operation with immediate effect. 

 
3.10. On this date, Licensing Officers contacted all East Devon approved meter fitters with 

the new fare tariff details and published a revised Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum 

Fares on East Devon District Council’s website. 

 
3.11. A copy of the final revised Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares can be found at 

APPENDIX C of this report.   

 
3.12. On the 19th June 2024 an email was set to all East Devon hackney carriage proprietors 

to advise them that the revised Table of Maximum Fares had now come into operation 

and that all hackney carriage meters must be re-calibrated to the new Table of 

Maximum Fares at their earliest convenience and by the 1st October 2024 at the latest. 

 
3.13. Hackney Carriage proprietors have been asked to provide the Licensing Authority with 

confirmation of the meter re-calibration and Licensing Officers will monitor this to ensure 

compliance. 

 

4. Fare Setting Process and Legislative Considerations 

 

4.1. The process for setting and revising hackney carriage fares is set out in Section 65 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and was undertaken in full 

before the varied Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares came into effect. 

 

4.2. Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the 

Council to set the maximum costs and fares that drivers may charge the public for 

journeys taken in a taxi and states that: 

 

65 Fixing of fares for hackney carriages. 

(1) A district council may fix the rates or fares within the district as well for time as 

distance, and all other charges in connection with the hire of a vehicle or with the 

page 16



arrangements for the hire of a vehicle, to be paid in respect of the hire of hackney 

carriages by means of a table (hereafter in this section referred to as a “table of 

fares”) made or varied in accordance with the provisions of this section. 

 

(2)  

a) When a district council make or vary a table of fares they shall publish in at 

least one local newspaper circulating in the district a notice setting out the 

table of fares or the variation thereof and specifying the period, which shall 

not be less than fourteen days from the date of the first publication of the 

notice, within which and the manner in which objections to the table of 

fares can be made. 

 

b) A copy of the notice referred to in paragraph (a) of this subsection shall for 

the period of fourteen days from the date of the first publication thereof be 

deposited at the offices of the council which published the notice, and shall 

at all reasonable hours be open to public inspection without payment. 

 

(3) If no objection to the table of fares or variation is duly made within the period 

specified in the notice referred to in subsection (2) of this section, or if all 

objections so made are withdrawn, the table of fares or variation shall come into 

operation on the date of the expiration of the period specified in the notice or the 

date of withdrawal of the objection or, if more than one, of the last objection, 

whichever is the later. 

 

(4) If objection is duly made as aforesaid and is not withdrawn, the district council 

shall set a further date, not later than two months after the first specified date, on 

which the table of fares shall come into force with or without modifications as 

decided by them after consideration of the objections. 

 

(5) A table of fares made or varied under this section shall have effect for the 

purposes of the Act of 1847 as if it were included in hackney carriage byelaws 

made thereunder. 

 

(6) On the coming into operation of a table of fares made by a council under this 

section for the district, any hackney carriage byelaws fixing the rates and fares or 

any table of fares previously made under this section for the district, as the case 

may be, shall cease to have effect. 

 

(7) Section 236(8) (except the words “when confirmed”) and section 238 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (except paragraphs (c) and (d) of that section) shall extend 

and apply to a table of fares made or varied under this section by a district 

council in England as they apply to byelaws made by a district council in England. 

 
5. Appeal 

 

5.1. The statutory process for fare setting is outlined above including statutory timescales 

applicable. There is no standard appeal procedure and as such the process outlined 

above may only be challenged by Judicial Review.  

page 17



 

 

6. Conclusion 

 

6.1. On the 18th June 2024 the varied Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares, agreed 

by the Licensing & Enforcement Committee on the 8th May 2024, came into immediate 

operation.  

 

6.2. East Devon District Council’s hackney carriage fare review for 2024 has now been 

completed and East Devon District Council now stands at position 20 in the National 

Hackney fare tables (based upon a 2-mile fare on tariff 1) as published by Private Hire 

and Taxi Monthly Limited.  The fare tariff table can be viewed on the Private Hire and 

Taxi Monthly website at number 8 in the “links to background information” section of this 

report. 

 

6.3. At a meeting of the Licensing & Enforcement Committee on the 13th March 2024, the 

Committee resolved that, while the existing method of calculating an appropriate 

Hackney Carriage Table of Maximum Fares was to be used for the 2024 fare review, a 

further report should be brought to a future meeting of the Committee to begin the 

process of considering, for 2025, the introduction of a new fare calculation 

methodology, based upon a process developed by Guildford Borough Council. 

 
6.4. Licensing Officers will therefore look to bring a report to the next meeting of the 

Licensing & Enforcement Committee to request the Committee’s agreement to 

commencing the process for implementing a new hackney carriage fare setting 

procedure for 2025.    

 

Financial implications: 

There are no financial implications other than officer time involved.  Were the decision to be 

subject to Judicial Review, there may be a possibility of court costs. 

Legal implications: 

 The legal framework is set out within the report and requires no further comment. 

 

page 18



APPENDIX A 
 

Revised fare table 2: showing 10% increase to all tariffs and charges (rounded to 
nearest whole pence) 

Approximate resulting position in the national hackney fares table: 20 
 

 TARIFF 1 
For hirings 
begun 
between 
0700 hrs and 
1900 hrs 
Monday to 
Saturday 
inclusive 
other than 
those subject 
to tariff 2 or 3 
 

 

TARIFF 2 
For hirings 
begun on any 
day between 
1900 hrs and 
0700 hrs and 
all day 
Sunday other 
than those 
subject to 
tariff 3 
 
 

 

TARIFF 3 
For hirings 
between 
1900 hrs 
24 December 
to 0700 hrs 
27 December 
and 1900 hrs 
31 December 
to 0700 hrs 
2 January and 
all Bank 
Holidays 
between 
12 midnight & 
12 Midnight  

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a mile) 
or uncompleted part thereof 

£4.40 
 
£0.39 

  

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof  
For each subsequent 176 yards (1/10 of a mile) or 
uncompleted part thereof 

 £5.28 
 
£0.33 

 

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a mile) 
or uncompleted part thereof 

  £6.82 
 
£0.55 

Extra Charges 
For each passenger after the first 
For each item of baggage 
For each dog (not including assistance dogs) 
Toll, ferry & car park fees incurred with journey 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

Waiting Time 
 

£0.39 for 
43 secs. 

£0.33 for 
37.5 secs. 

£0.55 for 
62.5 secs. 

Soiling Charge  £88.00 £88.00 £88.00 
Booking Charge 
At the discretion of the operator for each booking made by 
telephone and which requires the driver to drive to the hirer’s 
designated pick up point, the hirer must have been informed of the 
charge at the time of making the booking. 

 
Maximum £13.20 
 

Extras 
An extra charge of 10p added to the total fare when the South West 
average price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on the latest 
available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added for each 
subsequent increase of 10p per litre. 

 
Maximum £0.10 
 

PRICE GUIDE: 
First whole mile £5.96 £6.93 £9.02 
Each mile thereafter £2.73 £3.30 £3.85 
2 miles £8.69 £10.23 £12.87 
3 miles £11.42 £13.53 £16.72 
5 miles £16.88 £20.13 £24.42 
10 miles £30.53 £36.63 £43.67 

 
 page 19



 EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL APPENDIX B 
 

Fares for Hackney Carriages 
 

NOTIFICATION IS HEREBY GIVEN that the East Devon District Council intend to vary the table of fares for 
hackney carriages with the effect that the following revised maximum fares will become payable: 
 

 TARIFF 1 
For hirings begun 
between 0700 hrs 
and 1900 hrs 
Monday to 
Saturday inclusive 
other than those 
subject to tariff 2 
or 3 

TARIFF 2 
For hirings begun 
on any day 
between 1900 hrs 
and 0700 hrs and 
all day Sunday 
other than those 
subject to tariff 3 

TARIFF 3 
For hirings between 
1900 hrs 24 
December to 0700 
hrs 27 December 
and 1900 hrs 31 
December to 0700 
hrs 2 January and 
all Bank Holidays 
between 12 
midnight & 12 
Midnight  

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a 
mile) or uncompleted part thereof 

£4.40 
(was £4.00) 

 
£0.39 

(was £0.35) 

  

For the first  880 yards (½ mile) or 
uncompleted part thereof 
 
For each subsequent 176 yards (1/10 of a 
mile) or uncompleted part thereof 

 £5.28 
(was £4.80) 

 
£0.33 

(was £0.30) 

 

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a 
mile) or uncompleted part thereof 

  £6.82 
(was £6.20) 

 
£0.55 

(was £0.50) 
Extra Charges 
For each passenger after the first 
For each item of baggage 
For each dog (not including assistance dogs) 
Toll, ferry & car park fees incurred with journey 

 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 

Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 

Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 
£0.22 (was £0.20) 

Actual Fee 
Waiting Time 
 

£0.39 for 
43 secs 

(was £0.35) 

£0.33 for 
37.5 secs 

(was £0.30) 

£0.55 for 
62.5 secs 

(was £0.50) 
Soiling Charge  £88.00 

(was £80.00) 
£88.00 

(was £80.00) 
£88.00 

(was £80) 
Booking Charge 
At the discretion of the operator for each booking made by 
telephone and which requires the driver to drive to the hirer’s 
designated pick up point, the hirer must have been informed of the 
charge at the time of making the booking. 

 
Maximum £13.20 
                (was £12.00) 

Extras 
An extra charge of 10p added to the total fare when the South West 
average price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on the latest 
available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added for each 
subsequent increase of 10p per litre. 

 
Maximum £0.10 
(no change) 

 
Any objections to this variation, together with the grounds on which they are made, must be in 
writing and received by the Interim Chief Executives at the address below by not later than midnight 
on Wednesday 5th June 2024. 
 
The table of fares will come into force on 6th June 2024 subject to no objection being received or 
such other time as may be determined in accordance with Section 65 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
Dated: 22nd May 2024 
 
Melanie Wellman, Simon Davey and Tracy Hendren Interim Chief Executives 
 
Please send any responses C/o: Licensing Department, East Devon District Council, Blackdown House, 
Honiton, EX14 1EJ or by email to licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk page 20



 EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL APPENDIX C 
 

Maximum Fares for Hackney Carriages 
 

Effective from 18th June 2024 
 

 TARIFF 1 
For hirings 
begun 
between 
0700 hrs and 
1900 hrs 
Monday to 
Saturday 
inclusive 
other than 
those subject 
to tariff 2 or 3 
 

 

TARIFF 2 
For hirings 
begun on any 
day between 
1900 hrs and 
0700 hrs and 
all day 
Sunday other 
than those 
subject to 
tariff 3 
 
 

 

TARIFF 3 
For hirings 
between 
1900 hrs 
24 December 
to 0700 hrs 
27 December 
and 1900 hrs 
31 December 
to 0700 hrs 
2 January 
and all Bank 
Holidays 
between 
12 midnight & 
12 Midnight  

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a 
mile) or uncompleted part thereof 

£4.40 
 
£0.39 

  

For the first  880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof  
For each subsequent 176 yards (1/10 of a mile) 
or uncompleted part thereof 

 £5.28 
 
£0.33 

 

For the first 880 yards (½ mile) or uncompleted 
part thereof 
For each subsequent 251.43 yards (1/7 of a 
mile) or uncompleted part thereof 

  £6.82 
 
£0.55 

Extra Charges 
For each passenger after the first 
For each item of baggage 
For each dog (not including assistance dogs) 
Toll, ferry & car park fees incurred with journey 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

 
£0.22 
£0.22 
£0.22 
Actual Fee 

Waiting Time 
 

£0.39 for 
43 secs. 

£0.33 for 
37.5 secs. 

£0.55 for 
62.5 secs. 

Soiling Charge  £88.00 £88.00 £88.00 
Booking Charge 
At the discretion of the operator for each booking made by 
telephone and which requires the driver to drive to the hirer’s 
designated pick up point, the hirer must have been informed of 
the charge at the time of making the booking. 
 

 
Maximum £13.20 
 

Extras 
An extra charge of 10p added to the total fare when the South 
West average price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on 
the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p 
added for each subsequent increase of 10p per litre. 
 

 
Maximum £0.10 
 

 
 
 
 
 

page 21



Report to: Licensing and Enforcement Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17 July 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2025- 2028 

Report summary: 

The Licensing and Enforcement Committee is asked to consider a proposal to consult with 
Statutory Consultees, with a view to obtaining their views on a proposed amended 
Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 

East Devon District Council’s current Statement of Licensing policy was written in 2021 and 
came into effect in January 2022. There is a legal requirement to review such policy 
statements every three years. The current policy must be reviewed by 31 January 2025. The 
draft policy attached to this report has been reviewed and updated to reflect changes in 
national guidance, and feedback from the Gambling Commission, but a further, more in 
depth review of the Policy is proposed to be undertaken once the Gambling Commission 
has completed updating its guidance to Local Authorities. 

 

This Policy will ensure that the Council carries out its Gambling Licensing responsibilities 
in a fair, equitable and consistent manner. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Committee give consideration to the draft Policy document, and accept the request 
of the Licensing Manager to approve the sharing of the draft policy with the statutory 
consultees as outlined above. 

That the draft Policy document be returned to the Licensing and Enforcement Committee for 
further consideration following consultation with the statutory consultees.  

Reason for recommendation: 

East Devon District Council’s current Statement of Licensing policy was written in 2021 and came 
into effect in January 2022. There is a legal requirement to review such policy statements every 
three years. The current policy must be reviewed by 31 January 2025. The draft policy attached to 
this report has been updated to reflect changes in national guidance, and feedback from the 
Gambling Commission to date, but more substantive changes to the Guidance to Local Authorities 
are expected from the Gambling Commission in the near future, and it is anticipated that this will 
require a more substantive review of the Policy outside of the standard 3-year review window for 
the gambling Statement of Licensing policy.   

Officer: Phillippa Norsworthy, Licensing Manager, licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk  

 

page 22

Agenda Item 9



Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; Click here to enter text on risk considerations relating to your report. 

Links to background information N/A 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A – Draft Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy  

APPENDIX B – Proposed Consultee List 

 

Report in full 

1 Background 

 

1.1.1 Over the Summer of 2023, the Gambling Commission and HM Government launched a series 
of public consultations on a significant number of proposed amendments to gambling 
regulation across the UK. The Licensing Committee directed Officers to draft responses to 
the consultations and approved the responses put forward. Several of the proposed 
amendments addressed by the public consultations have the potential to significantly impact 
on Local Authority gambling regulation, but the Gambling Commission have confirmed that it 
is still considering the responses received and will not be in a position to amend Statutory 
Guidance to Local Authorities prior to the deadline for review of the Statement of Gambling 
Policy. The Gambling Commission have publicised this position as follows: 

 
1.2.1 'As required by the Gambling Act 2005 each Licensing Authority is required to renew their 

Statement every 3 years. The renewal date in this current cycle is January 2025. The 
Commission is advising that you should make plans as to how to conduct this renewal 
process. 
 
Given the ongoing consultations regarding the Gambling Act it is very unlikely that we will be 
able to amend the Guidance to Licensing Authorities document in sufficient time for you to 
incorporate changes within your own Statement. 

page 23

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


 
Whilst it is a matter for local determination, we suggest that the Statement is refreshed in line 
with the requirements of the Act so as to be enforceable from January 2025. 
 
Thereafter we will publish a revised GLA which you can include in a refreshed Statement. 
You are permitted to revise your Statement within the 3-year timescale.' (Source: Institute of 
Licensing News 15/04/2024).   
 

1.2.2 The above approach was recommended by Officers to the Licensing and Enforcement 
Committee on 8th May 2024. A review of the Statement of Licensing Policy was therefore 
undertaken in July 2024 and a number of minor amendments proposed pending a more 
substantive review in the near future further to the publishing of updated Gambling 
Commission guidance.  
 

1.2.3 Given the minor nature of the proposed policy amendments at the present time, it is 
recommended that draft policy is shared with the statutory consultees for comment (as 
required by Section 349 (3) of The Gambling Act 2005) but is not subject to a public 
consultation. 
 

1.2.4 The current review of the Statement of Licensing Policy and proposed consultation with 
statutory consultees will maintain East Devon District Council’s compliance with the Gambling 
Act 2005 requirement to review the Statement of Licensing every three years, whilst leaving 
scope for further review at such time as the amended guidance from the Gambling 
Commission is available.  

 

2  Legal  

2.1.1 The Licensing Authority must determine and publish a statement of Licensing Policy under 
Section 349 (1) of the Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’). The Licensing Authority is under a duty 
under Section 349 (2) of the Act to keep its policy under review and make such revisions as 
it considers appropriate during each three-year period. 

2.1.2 Before determining such a policy, Section 349(3) of the Act places a statutory duty on the 
Licensing Authority to consult with the listed interested parties. Where revisions are made the 
Licensing Authority must publish a statement of the revisions or the revised licensing 
statement. 

 

2.1.3 Any significant responses to the sharing of the draft policy with the statutory consultees which 
lead to amendment of the draft policy would therefore need to be brought back to a 
subsequent Licensing and Enforcement Committee for them to consider any amendments or 
variations that may have been suggested during the consultation. 

 

3. Proposed Timeline 

 

3.1      Proposed timeline for implementation of amended statement of Licensing Policy: 

 - 17th July: Licensing and Enforcement Committee report requesting approval to consult on 
draft policy; 

- 13th November: Return to Licensing and Enforcement Committee to discuss any consultation 
comments received and recommend moving amended policy to Full Council for approval; 

- 4th December: Full Council; 

- 31st January 2025: proposed amended policy comes into effect; 

page 24



 

 
 
 

 

Financial implications: 

“Consultation costs and officer time will be met in full from Gambling Act 2005 applications and 
renewal fees income. 

Legal implications: 

“The legal implications are set out within the report and require no further comment”   

page 25



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy  

GAMBLING ACT 2005 

 
 

For the period 31 January 20252 to 31 January 20285 

page 26



 

1 
 

Approved by Full Council on: 8 December 2021 

 
 

Contents  
 

PART A – Gambling Statement of Principles 
 

1. Licensing objectives        Page 2 
2. Introduction         Page 2 
3. The Geographical area profile       Page 4 
4. Review of Statement of Principles        Page 5 
5. Declaration           Page 6 
6. The Overriding Principle         Page 6 
7. Responsible authorities         Page 7 
8. Interested parties        Page 7 
9. Exchange of information        Page 9 
10. Enforcement         Page 9 
11. Licensing Authority Functions       Page 10 
12. The Gambling Commission        Page 10 
13. Local Risk Assessment       Page 11 
14. The Licensing Process       Page 13 

 

PART B – Premises Licences – Consideration of Applications  
 

1. General principles           Page 14 
1.4. Definition of premises        Page 14 
1.7. Access provisions          Page 15 
1.8. Premises ready for gambling       Page 16 
1.11. Location           Page 16 
1.12. Planning          Page 17 
1.13. Duplication with other regulatory schemes      Page 17 
1.20. Conditions         Page 19 
1.26. Door Supervisors        Page 20 
2. Adult Gaming Centres       Page 21 
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres      Page 21 
4. Casinos         Page 22 
5. Bingo          Page 22 
6. Betting premises          Page 23 
7. Tracks         Page 23 
8. Travelling Fairs         Page 25 
9. Provisional Statements       Page 25 
10. Reviews         Page 27 

 

PART C – Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices  
 

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits Page 28 
2. (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits    Page 32 
3. Prize Gaming Permits       Page 33 
4. Club Gaming & Club Machine Permits     Page 37 
5. Temporary Use Notices        Page 40 
6. Occasional Use Notices        Page 40 
7. Small Society Lotteries       Page 40 
8. Vessels         Page 41 

page 27



 

2 
 

 
APPENDIX A – Relevant Authorities’ Contact Details   Page 42 
APPENDIX B – Glossary of Terms      Page 44 
APPENDIX C – Summary of Entitlements     Page 47 
APPENDIX D – Safeguarding and Child Sexual Exploitation  Page 48 

 

Part A 

 
1 The Licensing Objectives 
 
1.1 The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Gambling Act 2005 to carry out its licensing 

functions in a manner which is consistent with three licensing objectives.  The relevant 
licensing objectives are: 

 
❑ preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

crime or disorder, or being used to support crime 
❑ ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and 
❑ protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling 
 

1.2 This Licensing Authority particularly notes the Gambling Commission’s Guidance (5.34) 
to local authorities that: 

“In deciding to reject an application, a licensing authority should rely on reasons that 
demonstrate that the licensing objectives are not being, or are unlikely to be, met.  
Licensing authorities should be aware that other considerations such as moral or ethical 
objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises licences.  
This is because such objections do not relate to the licensing objectives.  An authority’s 
decision cannot be based on dislike of gambling, or a general notion that it is undesirable 
to allow gambling premises in an area (with the exception of the casino resolution 
powers).”  

 
1.3  This licensing authority is aware that, in making decisions about premises licenses and 

temporary use notices it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far 
as it thinks it:  

 
❑ in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission  
❑ in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
❑ reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and  
❑ in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy  

 
 

2 Introduction 
  
2.1 The Gambling Act 2005 (the “Act”) requires this Licensing Authority to draft, consult and 

publish a Statement of Licensing Policy in relation to its responsibilities under the Act.  
Once published, this Policy Statement, called the Statement of Gambling Policy will be 
kept under constant review and, in any case, will be re-published after every three years.  
Before any revision of the Statement of Gambling Policy is published this Authority will 
carry out a full consultation exercise on the relevant sections.  This version of the 
Statement of Gambling Policy has been revised following the fourththird 3 year review 
and is for the period 20252 – 20285.  

 

page 28



 

3 
 

2.2 This Statement of Principles (Licensing Policy) is written to conform to the provisions of 
the Gambling Act 2005 and regulations and Guidance issued under s.25 of the Act by 
the Gambling Commission.  It outlines the way the licensing Authority will deal with 
applications for a range of premises licences, permits and enforcement of the Act. 

 
2.3 Section 25 of the Gambling Act ‘Guidance to local authorities’ states that the 

Commission shall from time to time issue guidance as to: 

(a) The manner in which local authorities are to exercise their functions under this 
Act, and  

(b) In particular, the principles to be applied by local authorities in exercising 
functions under this Act.”  

 
2.4 The aim of this Guidance is to ensure that every licensing authority has the information 

it needs to make effective decisions but does not seek to impose a ‘one size fits all’ 
model across all licensing authorities.  The commission recognises that every licensing 
authority is different and will have different views about how it wishes to manage 
gambling locally. Indeed, the Act establishes a high degree of local accountability for 
gambling regulation’. The Gambling Act 2005 can be accessed on this link: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents 

 
2.5      Between 2024 and 2025 numerous widespread public consultations were launched on 
the future of gambling regulation. The Gambling Commission advised in April 2024 that ‘Given 
the ongoing consultations regarding the Gambling Act it is very unlikely that we will be able to 
amend the Guidance to Licensing Authorities document in sufficient time for you to incorporate 
changes within your own Statement’. The Gambling Commission therefore recommended that 
statements of gambling policy be refreshed in line with the requirements of the Act so as to be 
enforceable from January 2025, but thereafter be further revised to reflect forthcoming changes 
to the Guidance to Local Authorities. The changes outlined in this document therefore reflect 
this proposed approach. 

 
 
2.5 The Statement takes effect on 31 January 20252. 
  

page 29

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents


 

4 
 

3 The Geographical Profile of East Devon  
 
3.1 East Devon is one of eight Devon districts and, in population terms, it is the largest in the 

County.  The District has a dispersed and mainly rural population. The rural nature of the 
area is emphasised by the low population density of 175 per square km (the England and 
Wales average is 427).  Of our 30 wards 21 of the have a population density below the 
England average. Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the World Heritage Coast 
cover a high proportion of the District. 

 
3.2 The District is fully parished with 63 Town and Parish Councils. Comprising of 30  wards, 

21 have a population density below the England average with a mix of market and costal 
town areas with much higher population densities including towns such as Exmouth, 
Seaton and Honiton. The main settlements comprise the coastal resorts of Exmouth 
(Devon’s largest town – population 48,613), Budleigh Salterton, Sidmouth and Seaton.  
In the mainly rural inland area the settlements comprise Honiton, Ottery St Mary, and 
Axminster.  There are numerous villages and hamlets. Cranbrook is the fastest-growing 
town in the South West with a young population with four times the England average of 
0-4 year olds and a high proportion in the 25-39 age group. It is estimated that Cranbrook 
will house up to 28,000 residents by 2031 with the community infrastructure expanding 
since the first building works began in 2011. As one of the ten NHS Healthy New Towns, 
the programme is helping to create an environment that promotes healthy lifestyles using 
innovative approaches to create a healthy, vibrant, attractive and sustainable town. The 
population of East Devon has an older age profile with the average age of its residents 
being 50.7 years (national average is 40.1 years). East Devon has a highest age profile 
of all of the districts in Devon with the largest percentage of those aged 65+ at 30.06%, 
this equates to 42,758 people. The overall population is expected to increase by 14,300 
people between 2017 and 2027, a rise of 10%.  

 
 
3.3 The natural environment also makes East Devon a popular place to visit with tourism 

bringing significant employment and business opportunities. The population increases 
during summer periods when larger holiday parks in coastal towns see full capacity taken 
up by holidaymakers. The district has the second highest amount of holiday homes of 
the Devon districts. The tourist economy brings with it a number of gambling activities, 
for example Adult Gaming Centres (4) and Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre 
Permits (11) requiring a permit rather than a premises licence. 
 

3.4 The towns of Exmouth, Sidmouth, Seaton and Honiton have a number of betting shops, 
for which there are 7 across the district.  East Devon currently has 6365 licensed 
premises and clubs under the Licensing Act 2003, of which 11416 have notified the 
licensing authority of having gaming machines.  Additionally there are 112 Club Machine 
Permits across the district (figures correct at JuneNovember 20241). 
 

3.5 Predominantly, residents are from a white British background, with just 1.59 per cent of 
the district’s population coming from an ethnic background.  The migration of population 
into East Devon from other parts of the UK show that there were 2620 more people 
moving into the area than out.  The largest age group moving in to the district was the 
25-44 age group and the largest group moving out being the 16-24 age group. 

 
3.6 Whilst not a requirement, in line with developing a more local focus for this statement, it 

is the desire of the Council to develop a Local Area Profile.  The creation of such a profile 
will entail a process of gathering and presenting information about the East Devon area 
and any particular areas of concern within the locality. 

 

 

page 30



 

5 
 

Data Sources  
1 2019 Knowing East Devon report EDDC  
*Figures correct at the time of publication 

 

 
4 Review of Statement of Principles 
 
4.1 Licensing authorities are required by the Act to publish a statement of the principles 

which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  This statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The statement must also be reviewed from “time 
to time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-
published. The policy statement forms the licensing authority’s mandate for managing 
local gambling provision and sets out how the licensing authority views the local risk 
environment and therefore its expectations in relation to operators with premises in the 
locality. 

 
4.2 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties be consulted by Licensing 

Authorities: 
❑ The Chief Officer of Police; 
❑ One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; 
❑ One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

  
4.3 Before adopting this policy statement the Licensing Authority thereforealso made the 

draft policy available to the following for comment: 
❑ All responsible authorities 
❑ Gambling premises licence and permit holders 
❑ British Beer & Pub Association 
❑ Chambers of Commerce within East Devon area 
❑ Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

Formatted: Strikethrough

page 31



 

6 
 

❑ Environmental Health Authority for the district 
❑ Devon and Cornwall Police 
❑ Devon County Council Children and Young Peoples Services 
❑ Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service 
❑ East and Mid Devon Community Safety Partnership 
❑ Planning Authority for the district  
❑ Gamblers Anonymous 
❑ Gambling Commission 
❑ Gamcare  
❑ HM Commissioners of Custom and Excise 
❑ Local businesses and their representatives 
❑ Local residents and their representatives 
❑ Mencap 
❑ NSPCC 
❑ Primary Care Trust 
❑ Representatives & Association of British Bookmakers 
❑ Town and Parish Councils within East Devon 
❑ Voluntary & Community organisations working with children & young people 

 
4.4 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those who have made comment on the 

draft Statement of Principles. Comments on the proposed draft policy were invitedOur 
consultation took place between 2226 JulyAugust 20241 and 124 October 20241 and 
we followed the Cabinet Office guidance on public consultations 

 
4.5 The Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the Full Council on 138 

NovDecember 20241 and is published on the Council’s website.  Copies are available 

for viewing at the offices of East Devon District Council, Blackdown House, Border Road, 

Heathpark Industrial Estate, Honiton, EX14 1EJ 
 

4.6 Should you have comments regarding this Statement of Licensing Principles please 
write to the above address or email licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk  

 
4.7 It should be noted that this statement will not override the right of any person to make 

an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a 
licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Act. 

 
5 Declaration 
 
5.1 In producing the Licensing Policy Statement, the licensing authority declares that it has 

had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the current Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission (GLA) and any relevant 
responses from those consulted on the policy statement. 

 
5.2 Where updates are necessary due to changes in national legislation, statutory guidance 

or regarding contact details and web links, the council reserves right to make those 
amendments to the policy without consultation to ensure those changes are reflected. 

 
5.3 This licensing authority will have due regard to the Human Rights Act 1998  and in 

particular: 

• Article 1, Protocol 1 – peaceful enjoyment of possessions. A licence is considered a 
possession in law and people should not be deprived of their possessions except in the 
public interest 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

page 32

mailto:licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


 

7 
 

• Article 6 – right to a fair hearing 
• Article 8 – respect for private and family life. In particular, removal or restriction of a 

licence may affect a person’s private life 
• Article 10 – right to freedom of expression. 

 
 

6 The Overriding Principle 
 
6.1 In exercising its functions under the Act, this Licensing Authority will aim to permit the 

use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks fit: 
❑ in accordance with the relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission including the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice LCCP s; 
❑ in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 
❑ as is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
❑ in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy under Section 349, 
❑ in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities (GLA) 

Guidance to licensing authorities - Gambling Commission 

6.2 Each case will be considered on its merits. 
6.3 In deciding whether or not to grant a licence, this authority does not have regard to the 

expected demand for the facilities that are the subject of the application. 
 
6.4 The overriding principle does not, however, apply to the consideration of an application 

for a casino licence if this Authority resolves not to issue casino premises licences. 

 
7  Responsible Authorities  
 
7.1 Responsible authorities are those public bodies, as specified by the Gambling Act, which 

must be notified of applications for premises licence.  Such bodies are entitled to make 
representations to the licensing authority in relation to the applications. 

 The Responsible Authorities are detailed in Appendix A and available via the Council’s 
website at http://eastdevon.gov.uk/licensing/gambling/.  

 
7.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 

exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body 
which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.  
The principles are: 
❑ the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 

licensing authority’s area; and 
❑ the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather 

than any particular vested interest group. 
 

7.3 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities, this authority designates the Area Child Protection Committee and Local 
Safeguarding Children Board. 

 

8 Interested Parties 
 
8.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 

review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as: 
“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application 
for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which 
issues the licence or to which the application is made, the person - 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 

page 33

https://beta.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/lccp/online
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/licensing/gambling/


 

8 
 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

 
8.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 

exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  The principles are: 

 
(a) Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This licensing authority will not apply 

a rigid rule to its decision-making.  It will consider the examples of considerations 
provided in the Guidance at 8.9 to 8.17.  The authority will also consider the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “business interests” should be given the 
widest possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups 
and medical practices. 

(b) Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 
councillors and MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an 
interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP represents the 
ward likely to be affected.  Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected will be 
considered to be interested parties.  Other than these, however, this licensing 
authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an 
advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has 
business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter 
from one of these persons, requesting the representation may normally be 
sufficient.  

  
If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing and Enforcement 
Committee or Sub Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are any 
doubts then please contact the Licensing Service: East Devon District Council, 
Blackdown House, Border Road, Heathpark Industrial Estate, Honiton, EX14 1EJ or 
email:- licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk  

 

page 34

mailto:licensing@southhams.gov.uk


 

9 
 

9 Exchange of Information 
 
9.1 The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 

provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the 
provision that the General Data Protection Regulation Data Protection Act 2018 will not 
be contravened.  The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any Guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter, as well as any relevant 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling 
Act 2005.  The Licensing Authority will have regard to the principles of Better Regulation. 

 
9.2 Should any protocols be established regarding information exchange with other bodies 

then they will be made available.   
Licensing authorities are required to include in their Statement the principles to be 
applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the Act 
with respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling Commission, 
and the functions under section 350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of 
information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act. 

 
 

10 Enforcement  
 
10.1 This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 

Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and in line with the Regulators Code. 
 

10.2 This licensing authority’s principles endeavour to ensure its enforcement should be: 
❑  Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies should 

be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 
❑ Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 

scrutiny; 
❑ Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 
❑ Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and 
❑ Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects.  
❑ In line with the council’s policy for regulatory and enforcement work with a 

graduated approach involving advice, guidance and support. Our approach is to 
engage with individuals and businesses to educate and to enable compliance.  

 
10.3 In line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities this licensing 

authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible. 

 
10.4 This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection 

programme, based on: 
❑ The licensing objectives 
❑ Relevant codes of practice 
❑ Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36 
❑ The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy  

 
The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the Gambling 
Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other permissions which 
it authorises.  The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and 
personal licences, and also the regulation of online gambling activity.  It is also worth noting that 
concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by this 
licensing authority but should be notified to the Gambling Commission.   

page 35



 

10 
 

This licensing authority will also keep itself informed of developments regarding the work of 
the Office for Product Safety and StandardsBetter Regulation Delivery Office in its 
consideration of the regulatory functions of local authorities, in particular the Primary Authority 
regime.. 
 

Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Council’s Regulatory Enforcement and 

Prosecution Policy - Principles of Enforcement - Policy - East Devon available via the 

Council’s website  

 
11 Licensing Authority functions 
 
11.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Gambling Act 2005 to: 

❑ Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take 
place by issuing Premises Licences  

❑ Issue Provisional Statements  
❑ Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 

certain gaming activities by issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits  

❑ Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  
❑ Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed 

Family Entertainment Centres  
❑ Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) 

for the use of two or fewer gaming machines  
❑ Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 

sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing 
Act 2003, where there are more than two machines  

❑ Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  
❑ Issue Prize Gaming Permits  
❑ Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices  
❑ Receive Occasional Use Notices  
❑ Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 

issued (see section above on ‘information exchange’) 
❑ Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions 

 
11.2 Local Licensing Authorities are not involved in licensing or authorising: 

• Remote (online) Gambling that is dealt with by the Gambling Commission,  

• Help and guidance in relation to Safer Gambling - Gambling Commission 

• Spread betting is regulated by the Financial Services Authority; and 

• The National Lottery (regulated by the Gambling Commission). 
 
 

12 The Gambling Commission  
 
12.1 The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest.  It does so by 

keeping crime out of gambling; by ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open 
way; and by protecting children and vulnerable people.  The Commission provides 
independent advice to the Government about the matter in which gambling is carried 
out, the effects of gambling and the regulations of gambling generally. 

12.2 The Commission has issued guidance under Section 25 of the Act about the manner in 
which licensing authorities exercise their licensing functions under the Act and, in 
particular, the principles to be applied. 

 

page 36

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-business/our-key-policies/enforcement-policies/regulatory-enforcement-and-prosecution-policy/principles-of-enforcement-policy/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-business/our-key-policies/enforcement-policies/regulatory-enforcement-and-prosecution-policy/principles-of-enforcement-policy/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/LXbgCLJY1IRWOKMc1U___?domain=gamblingcommission.gov.uk


 

11 
 

12.3 The Commission has also issued Codes of Practice under Section 24 about the way in 
which facilities for gambling is provided, which may also include provisions about the 
advertising of gambling facilities.  

12.4 The Gambling Commission can be contacted at:  
 

Gambling Commission  
Victoria Square House  
Victoria Square  
Birmingham  
B2 4BP  

Website: Contact us - Gambling Commission 

 

13  Local Risk assessments  
 
13.1 The Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Code’s requires licensees to assess 

the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at 
each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate 
those risks.  In undertaking their risk assessments, licensees should take into account 
any relevant matters identified in this Statement of Principles 

 
13.2 Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new or 

transfer of a premises licence.  Their risk assessment must be also be updated: 

❑ When applying for a variation of a premises licence 

❑ To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 
identified in this policy statement 

❑ Where there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks, to include any changes to the interior layout of the 
premises, for example erection of privacy screens sited around gaming machines 

❑ To require that local risk assessments will be kept available at a licensee’s 
premises and being readily available for inspection by licensing authorities. 

 
13.3 Where concerns do exist, perhaps promoted by new or existing risks, Tthe Licensing 

Authority will requireuest that the licensee share a copy of its own risk assessment which 
will set out the measures the licensee has in place to address specific concerns. 

 
13.4 This Authority will pay particular attention to applications for the new grant of, or 

variations to existing, premises licenses where those premises lie within areas with a 
concentration of schools, Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) hotspots and hostels or homes 
for vulnerable people. 

 
13.5 Applicants will be expected to tailor their application, and have policies, procedures and 

control measures to mitigate any risks.  They should have the appropriate numbers of 
trained staff, and propose licence conditions to cater for the local area in which they 
propose to run their business. 

 
13.6 As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling Commission is 

not seeking to offer a definition but states that ‘… it does, for regulatory purposes, 
assume that this group includes people who gamble more than they want to, people who 
gamble beyond their means and people who may not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about gambling due to, for example, mental health, a learning 
disability or substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs.’ 

 

page 37

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/contact-us


 

12 
 

13.7 This Licensing Authority will consider the licensing objective of protecting children and 
other vulnerable persons on a case by case basis.  Should a practical definition prove 
possible in future then this policy statement will be updated with it, by way of a revision.  
This Authority will also make itself aware of the Codes of Practice which the Gambling 
Commission issues in relation to this. 

 
13.8  This Licensing Authority will expect compliance by operators and licence holders with 

anti-money laundering conditions by having measures in place to identify and report 
suspicious financial activity.   

 
13.9 The code requires the Licensing Authority to set out matters they expect the operator to 

take account of in the risk assessment in its statement of policy and this Licensing 
Authority would recommend that the following matters are considered by operators when 
making their risk assessment. 
 

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage 
gambling, 

• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and 
gaming trends, 

• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments, 

• Appropriate staffing to adapt to difference in times of day and seasonal periods, 

• Proximity to schools, commercial environment or other factors affecting footfall 

• Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other gambling outlets, 
banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities 

• Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, youths 
participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities, etc. 

• Potential for money laundering 
 

Matters relating to children and young persons, including; 

• Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons should be 
expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues 

• Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, and any 
other place where children are attracted, 

• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti social behaviour, including 
such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc. 

• Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling 

• Areas where there is a presence of children and young persons on a seasonal basis 
(e.g. school holidays) such as holiday resorts, visitor attractions, etc. 

• How matters relating to safeguarding issues and child sexual exploitation have been 
considered and details of any training that has been provided to employees 

 
Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including; 

• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions 

• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments, 

• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and 
gaming trends, 

• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as hospitals, 
residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing offices, 
addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant people may 
congregate. 

• What measures have been put in place in relation to supporting vulnerable adults and 
any training that has been provided to employees 

page 38



 

13 
 

 
Other issues that may be considered could include: 

• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by large numbers of people including 
sports stadiums, leisure centres, places of worship. 

 
This list is not exhaustive. Other factors not in this list that are identified must be taken into 
consideration. 

 
13.10 This Licensing Authority will expect that Risk Assessment must be kept on the premises 

to which it relates and available for inspection by an authorised officer of the licensing 
authority or Gambling Commission 

 

14 The Licensing Process 
 
14.1 A Licensing Committee (Licensing and Enforcement Committee), a Sub-Committee, or 

an officer acting under delegated authority may carry out the powers of the authority 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
14.2 Many of the licensing procedures are largely administrative in nature.  In the interests of 

efficiency, non-contentious procedures are carried out by licensing officers. 
 
14.3 The Licensing Authority ensures that all Licensing Officers and Members of the 

Licensing and Enforcement Committee have received adequate training for their role 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
14.4 Where admissible and relevant representations are received in relation to an application 

for a premises licence, or in relation to the review of a premises licence, a Sub-
Committee is delegated to hear the matter. 

 
14.5 Applicants for premises licences are required to copy their applications in full to the 

responsible authorities as listed in Appendix A.  
 

page 39



 

14 
 

Part B - Premises Licences: Consideration of Applications 
 

1 General Principles  
 
1.1 Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling Act 2005 and 

regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are detailed in 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities are able to exclude 
default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. 

 
1.2 This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it 

should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it: 
❑ in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
❑ in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  
❑ reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
❑ in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Principles. 

 
1.3  It is appreciated that in line with the Gambling Commission's Guidance to licensing 

authorities "moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences" (except as regards any 'no casino resolution' - see section on 
Casinos later) and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority. 

 
1.4 Definition of “premises” - In the Act, "premises" is defined as including "any place".  

Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place.  
But a single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they 
are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to allow 
large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to 
obtain discrete premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, 
licensing authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-
divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating 
to access between premises are observed. 
 

1.5 The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance that: “In most cases the expectation 
is that a single building / plot will be the subject of an application for a licence, for 
example, 32 High Street.  But, that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject 
of separate premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured 
acceptably.  Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being 
separate premises will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will 
clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a 
matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  However, the 
Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily 
separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as 
different premises. 

 
1.6 Any premises granted multiple licences prior to clarification of guidance issued by the 

Gambling Commission in 2009, may be reviewed from time to time having regard to the 
amended guidance including more recent amendments; the decision making process 
taken at that time; the separation control measures put in place; any material changes 
noted since the granting of the application and the relevance of all these factors having 
regard to the promotion of the licensing objectives.  In particular to the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. 

 
1.7 This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 

page 40



 

15 
 

to licensing authorities which states that: Licensing authorities should take particular 
care in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to 
a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they 
should be aware of the following: 
❑ The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 

gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling.  
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe gambling where they 
are prohibited from participating.   

❑ Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area.  In this 
context it should normally be possible to access the premises without going through 
another licensed premises or premises with a permit. 

❑ Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence. 

❑ Suitable and adequate separation by means of screening, walls, specific signage or 
similar 

❑ There should not be any direct access to a premises (Adult Gaming Centre) from 
an area where a permit has been granted (for example an adjoining UFEC) 

 
The Guidance also provides a list of factors which this licensing authority should consider 
and includes: 
❑ Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates? 
❑ Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone 

else? 
❑ Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway? 
❑ Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises? 
❑ This licensing authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 

decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.  
 

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type 
are reproduced below from the Guidance, 7.23:  
 

Casinos 
❑ The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined at 

7.21 of the Guidance) 
❑ No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by 

children and/or young persons  
❑ No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises which 

holds a gambling premises licence 
 
Adult Gaming Centre 
❑ No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other licensed 

gambling premises 
 

Betting Shops 
❑ Access must be from a street (as defined at paragraph 7.22 of the Guidance to 

Licensing Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises licence 
❑ No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale of 

merchandise or services.  In effect there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop 
from a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of a café 
– the whole area would have to be licensed.  

page 41



 

16 
 

 
Tracks 
❑ No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

 
Bingo Premises 
❑ No customer must be able to access the premise directly from: 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 
❑ No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 

-  a casino 
-  an adult gaming centre 
-  betting premises, other than a track 

 
Part 7 of the Guidance contains further guidance on this issue, which this licensing 
authority will also take into account in its decision-making. 

 
1.8 Premises “ready for gambling” 
 

The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued 
in relation to premises that this licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready 
to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of 
building or alterations required before the premises are brought into use.  
 
If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 
statement should be made instead.  
 
In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, this licensing authority will determine 
applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:- 
❑ First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling  
❑ Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation 

that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling 
takes place. 
 

1.9 Applicants should note that this licensing authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a 
licence.  
 

1.10 More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted 
can be found at paragraphs 7.58 – 7.65 of the Guidance.  

 
1.11  Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered 

with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives are relevant to its decision making.  In line with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to licensing authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.  It should be noted that any such 
policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be 

page 42



 

17 
 

decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns 
can be overcome. 

 
1.12 Planning: 

The Guidance states: 
Paragraph 7.58 – In determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take 
into consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any irrelevant 
matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing objectives. One example of 
an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning 
permission or building regulations approval for their proposal.  
 
This licensing authority will not take into account irrelevant matters in line with the above 
guidance. In addition this licensing authority notes the following excerpt from the 
Guidance:  
Paragraph 7.65 - When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, 
the licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or 
comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Those matters should be dealt 
with under relevant planning control and building regulation powers, and not form part of 
the consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing 
authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining 
planning or building consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally 
the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that 
may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building. 

 
1.13 Duplication with other regulatory regimes - This licensing authority seeks to avoid 

any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including 
planning.  This authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be 
awarded planning permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it.  
It will, though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which 
cannot be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise. 
 
When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this licensing 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or buildings consents.  Fire or health and safety risks will not be 
taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, 
buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence. 
 

1.14 Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with 
the licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this licensing authority has 
considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities and further 
comment on the objectives is made below. 

 
1.15 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime - This licensing authority is 
aware that the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in preventing gambling from 
being a source of crime including prevention of money laundering.  The Gambling 
Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing authorities should pay 
attention to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing 
objective.  Thus, where an area has known high levels of organised crime this authority 
will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and 
whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This 
licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider factors (for example whether police assistance was required and how 
threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it), so as to make that distinction. 

page 43



 

18 
 

1.16 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This licensing authority 
has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it generally does not expect 
licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair 
and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is 
however more of a role with regarding to tracks which is explained in more detail in the 
tracks section later. 

 
1.17 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling - This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance 
to licensing authorities states that this objective means preventing children from taking 
part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not 
aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children).  This licensing authority will therefore 
consider, as suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether specific 
measures are required at particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  
Appropriate measures may include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of 
areas etc. The need to ensure safeguarding of children and other vulnerable adults is an 
expectation of the licensing authority. The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
(LCCP) prescribe how operators must prevent children from using age restricted gaming 
or gambling activities, particularly where gaming machines are present. In particular 
operators are expected to ensure: 
 

• all staff are trained, 

• that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises, 

• procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of gambling related harm 
are in place. 
 

The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as required 
by the LCCP codes on social responsibility. These should cover all aspects including in 
particular staff training records and self-exclusion records. 

 
Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social 
responsibility code. The council will take all conditions and codes into account when 
considering applications or performing enforcement activities. 
 
Appendix D provides information for licence holders and their employees regarding 
safeguarding and the safety of children and vulnerable persons, particularly to child 
sexual exploitation and trafficking. 

 
1.18 This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission’s Codes of Practice 

regarding this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.  
 
1.19 It is noted that the Gambling Commission is not seeking to offer a definition of the term 

“vulnerable persons” but states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that this group 
includes people who gamble more than they want to; people who gamble beyond their 
means; and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.”   

 
 The Local Government Association report titled “Tackling Gambling Related Harm – A 

whole council approach” references research supporting the suggestion that certain 
groups of people are more vulnerable.  This is set out in page 7 of that report and is 
acknowledged by this licensing authority.  

 
 This licensing authority will consider the licensing objective on a case-by-case basis.   
 

page 44



 

19 
 

1.20 Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 
❑ relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility; 
❑ directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 
❑ fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 
❑ reasonable in all other respects; and 
❑ enforceable 

 
1.21 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 

there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will consider utilising should 
there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult 
only areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the 
licence types below.  This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to 
offer his/her own suggestions on the way in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively when making their application. 

 
1.22 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for 

buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include 
the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas 
frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance. 

 
1.23 This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 

premises to which children are admitted: 
❑ all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from 

the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

❑ only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 
❑ access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
❑ the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by the staff or the licence holder; and 
❑ at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18. 
These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable. 

 
1.24 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to more than one premises 

licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  In line with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will consider the impact upon 
the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are 
not permitted to enter. 

 
1.25 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to 

premises licences which are: 
❑ any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 

operating licence condition;  
❑ conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation; 
❑ conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 

Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

❑ conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes. 
 

1.26  Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance that if a 
licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or be subject to 

page 45



 

20 
 

attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young persons) then it 
may require that the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and 
is entitled to impose a premises licence condition to this effect.  

 
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular 
cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not will be necessary.  
It will not be automatically assumed that they need to be licensed, as the statutory 
requirements for different types of premises vary (in line with the Guidance, Part 33). 

 
1.27 In deciding whether door staff are needed and the level of training required the licensing 

authority will take into account the particular circumstances of the premises and the 
Gambling Commissions guidance. 

page 46



 

21 
 

2 Adult Gaming Centres 
 
2.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.  Appropriate licence conditions 
may cover the following issues: 
❑ CCTV 
❑ Door supervisors 
❑ Location of entry 
❑ Notices/signage 
❑ Physical separation of areas (an expectation for barriers to be tangible and evident)  
❑ Proof of age schemes 
❑ Provision information leaflets helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 
❑ Self-exclusion schemes 
❑ Specific opening hours 
❑ Supervision of entrances/machine areas 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 
 

2.2 The question of sub-division of such premises has been the subject of further Gambling 
Commission Guidance.  This Licensing Authority will have regard to any relevant 
additional guidance that may be issued by the Gambling Commission in respect to such 
applications any decision-making.  
 

2.3 This Authority accepts that there must be no direct entry from one adult gaming centre 
into another and will have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission in respect to such applications. 

 

3 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 
 
3.1  This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 

vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas. 

3.2  This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 
including those relating to: 
❑ CCTV 
❑ Door supervisors 
❑ Location of entry 
❑ Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on 

the premises 
❑ Notice/signage 
❑ Physical separation of areas 
❑ Proof of age schemes 
❑ Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare. 
❑ Self-exclusion schemes 
❑ Specific opening hours 
❑ Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.  
 
3.3 This licensing authority will, in line with the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to 

the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences 

page 47



 

22 
 

covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be 
delineated. 

 
4 Casinos 
 

East Devon District Council passed a ‘no casino’ resolution in this district under Section 
166 of the Gambling Act 2005.  The ‘no casino’ effect came into effect on 31st January 
2022the same date as this Statement of Gambling Policy.  The ‘no casino’ decision was 
made by the Full Council on 8 December 2021. The Council will generally review this 
resolution at least every three years, but in this instance this review will be put on-hold 
pending the forthcoming updated guidance from the Gambling Commission and 
subsequent full update of this Policy..  
 
This means that East Devon District Council will presently not consider any applications 
for a premises licence for a casino. We will return any applications, should it be received, 
with a notice that a ‘no casino’ resolution is in place. The Council is currently not enabled 
by the Secretary of State (in accordance with regulations made under Section 175 of the 
Act) to grant a premises licence for a casino.  
 

 

5 Bingo premises 
 
5.1 This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance states: 
 

Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any 
bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a relevant 
consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises applies to vary their 
licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from its ambit and then applies for a 
new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that or those excluded areas. In 
consideration before issuing additional bingo premises licences, the licensing authority 
will need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises. 
 
This licensing authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.9 regarding the unusual 
circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent 
premises might be permitted, and in particular that it is not permissible for all of the 
gaming machines to which each of the licence brings an entitlement to be grouped 
together within one of the licensed premises. In these cases this Licensing Authority will 
have particular regard to the Gambling Commission Guidance on the ‘meaning of 
premises’ (7.5-7.11) and how it relates to the primary gambling activity.  
 
Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises, however they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available 
for use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are 
allowed.  

  

page 48



 

23 
 

6 Betting premises 
 

Betting machines 
This Licensing Authority will consider whether it is appropriate to restrict the number of 
betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available 
by way of licence condition for betting or casino premises licence (where betting is 
permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the 
number of betting machines in a particular premises, this Licensing Authority, amongst 
other things, will take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter 
positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 
18 to bet) or by vulnerable persons.”  
 
The Licensing Authority recognises that the design and layout of betting premises (or 
any other premises including tracks) will vary so will have particular regard to the sighting 
of age restricted gaming machines within each individual premises to ensure, so far as 
is reasonably practicable, that staff properly monitor the use of these machines by 
children and young persons.  This Licensing Authority reserve the right to request that 
gaming machines are re-positioned where circumstances demonstrate that it is 
appropriate to do so. Where a substantial or significant variation to a premises occurs, 
to include sighting or placement of screens and/or booths, it will be the expectation of 
the licensing authority for an application to vary the licence along with a revised plan of 
the premises to be submitted.  
 
Factors to be taken into consideration will include the following: 
 
❑ CCTV 
❑ Re-location of the machines 
❑ Door buzzers 
❑ Remote cut off switches 
❑ Training provision 
❑ Any other factor considered relevant 
 

7 Tracks 
 
7.1 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to more than one premises 

licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  In line with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will especially consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective (that is the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that 
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 

 
7.2 This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate 

suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track 
areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse 
racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming 
machines (other than category D machines) are provided. 

 
7.3 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives 

including those relating to: 
❑ CCTV 
❑ Location of entry 

page 49



 

24 
 

❑ Notices/signage 
❑ Physical separation of areas 
❑ Proof of age schemes 
❑ Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare 
❑ Self-exclusion schemes 
❑ Specific opening hours 
❑ Supervision of entrances / machine areas 

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 
 
7.4 Gaming Machines 

Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which children are excluded. 
 
Applicants are advised to consult the Gambling Commission’s Guidance on where 
gaming machines may be located on tracks and any special considerations that should 
apply in relation, for example, to supervision of the machines and preventing children 
from playing them.  This Licensing Authority will take note of this guidance.  This 
Licensing Authority will also, in line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, consider 
the location of gaming machines at tracks.  

 
7.5 Betting Machines 

This licensing authority will, in line with part 6 of the Gambling Commission Guidance, 
take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of 
the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) 
or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator proposes to offer. 
 
On tracks where the potential space for such machines may be considerable, bringing 
with it significant problems in relation to the proliferation of such machines, the ability of 
track staff to supervise them if they are scattered around the track and the ability of the 
track operator to comply with the law and prevent children betting on the machines, this 
Licensing Authority will generally consider restricting the number and location of betting 
machines, in the light of the circumstances of each application for a track betting 
premises licence. 
 

7.6 Applications and plans 
Section 151 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires applicants to submit plans of the 
premises with their application, in order to ensure that this licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are 
fit for gambling.  The plan will also be used for this licensing authority to plan future 
premises inspection activity.  

 
Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale and 
should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations.  

 
Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by 
virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  In such instances, 
where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary 
structures to restrict access to premises. 

 
In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track 
in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or 

page 50



 

25 
 

races.  In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use 
notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined. 

 
This licensing authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise 
location of betting areas on tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are 
provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting 
is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with 
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  Applicants should provide sufficient 
information that this licensing authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main 
areas where betting might take place.  For racecourses in particular, any betting areas 
subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on 
the plan.  (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, paragraph 20.46). 

 

8 Travelling Fairs 
 
8.1 Where category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be 

made available for use at travelling fairs it will be this Licensing Authority’s responsibility 
to decide whether the statutory requirement is met, that the facilities for gambling 
amounts to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair. 

 
8.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 

definition of a travelling fair. 
 
8.3 It is been noted that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair 

applies on a per calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the 
fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying 
the land.  This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure 
that land, which crosses our boundaries, is monitored so that the statutory limits are not 
exceeded. 

 

9 Provisional Statements 
 
9.1 Developers may wish to apply to this licensing authority for provisional statements before 

entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development 
is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence.  There is no 
need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional 
statement.  
 

9.2 Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to this licensing 
authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she: 
❑ expects to be constructed; 
❑ expects to be altered; or 
❑ expects to acquire a right to occupy. 
 

9.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as 
that for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to give notice of the 
application in the same way as applying for a premises licence.  Responsible authorities 
and interested parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal.  
 

9.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or 
have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the case 
of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of 
which their provisional application is made.  
 

page 51



 

26 
 

9.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  This licensing authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications that 
follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless: 
❑ they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 

statement stage, or 
❑ they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.   
 
In addition, this licensing authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters: 
 
❑ which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage;  
❑ which in this licensing authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances; or 
❑ where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted 

with the application.  This must be a substantial change to the plan and this licensing 
authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before 
making a decision. 

page 52



 

27 
 

10 Reviews 
 

10.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 
responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review 
is relevant to the matters listed below.  
❑ in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
❑ in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 
❑ reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; 
❑ in accordance with the authority’s Gambling Licensing Policy 
 

10.2 The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, 
whether the request will certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend 
the licence, or whether the request is substantially the same as previous representations 
or requests for review; 

 
10.3 The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 

particular class of premises on the basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate. 
 
10.4 Once a valid application for a review has been received by this licensing authority, 

representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 
28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the application was received by this 
licensing authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.  

 
10.5 This licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28-day 

period for making representations has passed.  
 
10.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether this licensing authority should 

take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the options open to this 
licensing authority are:- 
(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by this licensing authority; 
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening 

hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion; 
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and 
(d) revoke the premises licence. 

 
10.7 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this licensing 

authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as 
any relevant representations. 
 

10.8 In particular, this licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence on 
the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises.  This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner 
without intending to use them. 
 

10.9 Once the review has been completed, this licensing authority must, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to: 
(i) the licence holder 
(ii) the applicant for review (if any) 
(iii) the Commission 
(iv) any person who made representations 
(v) the chief officer of police or chief constable; and 
(vi) Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 

page 53



 

28 
 

PART C 
 Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 
 
1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre - Gaming Machine Permits 
Statement of Principles – (Schedule 10 Paragraph 7) 
 
1.1 Where an establishment does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming 

machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It should be noted that 
the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making 
gaming machines available for use (Section 238). 

 
1.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of 

principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for 
a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but 
may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant 
guidance issued by the Commission under section 25.  The Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance for local authorities also states: “In their three year Statement of Principles 
(Licensing Policy), licensing authorities may include a statement of principles that they 
propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering applications for permits, 
licensing authorities will want to give weight to child protection issues."  (Guidance 
Paragraph 24.8) 

 
1.3 Guidance also states: “...An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing 

authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the 
application . . .” This Licensing Authority will require the applicant to demonstrate: 
❑ a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 

permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; 
❑ that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 

of the Act; and 
❑ that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.  

(Guidance Paragraph 24.9) 
❑ an expectation for gaming machines to be properly marked and identified according 

to category  
 
1.4 It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 

permit. 
 
1.5 Statement of Principles 
 
1.5.1 This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 

Paragraph 7 of Schedule 10 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the 
measures that the council will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a 
permit for an unlicensed family entertainment centre.  This will allow the council to better 
determine the suitability of the applicant and the premises for a permit. 

 
1.5.2 Within this process the council will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to 

demonstrate that: 
❑ they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit 
❑ they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote the licensing 

objectives, and 
❑ they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought. 
 

page 54



 

29 
 

1.5.3 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the 
council will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed 
in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate. 

 
1.6 Unlicensed family entertainment centres 
 
1.6.1 The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers to 

a premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other 
amusements such as computer games and penny-pushers.  The premises is 
‘unlicensed’ in that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to be 
able to provide its category D gaming machines.  It should not be confused with a 
‘licensed family entertainment centre, which does require a premises licence because it 
contains both category C and D gaming machines. 

 
1.6.2 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (uFECs) will be most commonly located at 

seaside resorts, in airports and at motorway style service centres, and will cater for 
families, including unaccompanied children and young persons. 

 
1.6.3 The council will only grant an uFEC gaming machine permit where it is satisfied that the 

premises will be operated as a bonafide unlicensed family entertainment centre. 
 
1.6.4 In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in this 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

 
1.7 Supporting documents 
 
1.7.1 The council will require the following supporting documents to be served with all uFEC 

gaming machine permit applications: 
 
❑ proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, a photo style 

driving licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or 
over) 

❑ proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable evidence 
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document 

❑ the result of a criminal records disclosure checking (the disclosure must have been 
issued within the previous 3 months).  This will be used to check that the applicant 
has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act.) –
Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). For 
further details visit their website: https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record 

o Where an applicant provides evidence that they have an Operating 
Licence and as a result have undergone rigorous checks by the Gambling 
Commission, then a criminal record disclosure check will not be required.  

o Where an applicant is a company or organisation and does not hold an 
Operating Licence, then the proposed Manager responsible for the day to 
day running of the premises will be required to produce a criminal record 
disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the date of the 
application being submitted to the Licensing Authority.  

o When a permit holder appoints a new manager responsible for the day to 
day running of the premises, that person will be required to produce a 
criminal record disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the 
appointment date.  

❑ In the case of applications for an uFEC gaming machine permit evidence that the 
machines to be provided are or were supplied by a legitimate gambling machine 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  1.27 cm, Hanging:  0.95
cm, Tab stops:  2.22 cm, List tab

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 11 pt

page 55

https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record


 

30 
 

supplier or manufacturer who holds a valid gaming machine technical operating 
licence issued by the Gambling Commission 

❑ A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items:  
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances 

and exits to the building and any internal doorways  
(ii) where any category D gaming machines are positioned and the particular 

type of machines to be provided (for example slot machines, penny-falls, 
cranes) 

(iii) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises 
(iv) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 

premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area 
(v) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines 
(vi) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars 
(vii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 

elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises 
(viii) the location of any public toilets in the building  

 
Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale 
with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 1:100. In any 
circumstance where the premises is bordering or separated to an Adult Gaming Centre 
the licensing authority will expect submission of a Local Risk Assessment for both 
premises.  

 
1.8 Protection of Children 
 
1.8.1 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm and to meet requirements for safeguarding.  Harm 
in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The council will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, 
and they should (depending on the particular permit being applied for) include 
appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the following: 
❑ maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that 

any truant children can be reported 
❑ employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 

attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school 
❑ employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods 

where children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms 
and summer holidays 

❑ maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the 
vicinity of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels 
during these times 

❑ display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on 
the premises  

❑ maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to 
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being 
unruly or young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register 
should be used to detect any trends that require attention by the management of 
the premises.) 

❑ ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult. 
❑ Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied and for staff to report suspicious activities or incidents 
❑ The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for 

all staff who will be working closely with children. 
 

page 56



 

31 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. The 
Licensing Authority encourages applicants for UFEC Permits to consider adopting 
BACTA’s voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement with Prizes Machines in Family 
Entertainment Centres. This Code of Practice promotes awareness of social 
responsibility, and acknowledges that proactive specific and appropriate commitment 
will be given to educating children and young persons, thereby minimising the potential 
for harm. 
 

 
1.9 Protection of Vulnerable Persons Issues 
 
1.9.1  The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the section in the 
council’s ‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise 
themselves with who the council considers vulnerable.  The council will assess these 
policies and procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular 
permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the 
following: 
❑ display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines 
❑ display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises 
❑ training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to 

maintain a sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are 
gambling, as part of measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable 

❑ consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines.  (including the 
display of Gamcare stickers on any such machines.) 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. 
 

1.10 Other miscellaneous issues 
 
1.10.1  The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures 

(depending on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder 
and the possibility of public nuisance: 
❑ maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the 

premises 
❑ keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy 
❑ ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause 

nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises 
❑ consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the 

congregation of children and youths. 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. 

  

page 57



 

32 
 

2 Alcohol Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits – (Schedule 13 
Paragraph 4(1)) 
 
2.1 Automatic Entitlement for two machines 

There is provision in the Act for a premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on 
the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.  The licensing authority can 
remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any premises if: 
❑ provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 

licensing objectives; 
❑ gaming has taken place on the premises and that breaches a condition of section 

282 of the Gambling Act has occurred (for example that written notice has not been 
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has not been provided and that any 
relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location 
and operation of the machine has not been complied with);  

❑ the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
❑ an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises 
The Licensing Authority will use its discretion to remove permits where appropriate 
taking into account individual circumstances considering a Code of Practice. 
 
The premises must comply with the Code of Practice for gaming machines in clubs and 
premises with an alcohol licence issued by the Gambling Commission.  
 
All gaming machines situated on the premises must be located in a place within the 
premises so that their use can be supervised, either by staff whose duties include such 
supervision (including bar or floor staff) or by other means.  
 

 
2.2 Permit - three or more machines 

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for a permit 
and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 
of the Gambling Act 2005, and “other such matters as the Authority think relevant.”  This 
licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case-by-case 
basis.  However generally there will be regard to the size of the premises in comparison 
to the number of machines sought and to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy 
the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do 
not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the 
authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of 
the bar, or in the sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used by 
those under 18.  Notices and signage may also be helpful.  As regards the protection of 
vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
2.3 It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 

for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to be 
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
2.4 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a 

smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 

 

page 58



 

33 
 

2.5 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit to must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine. 

Applicants should be aware that only those premises which have a ‘bar’ (servery) at 
which alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises will be eligible for gambling 
machines in the bar area of the premises.  This means that premises such as restaurants 
which do not have a bar for serving drinks or can only sell alcoholic drinks as an ancillary 
to food cannot automatically qualify for two machines. 

 
3 Prize Gaming Permits – Statement of Principles on Permits - (Schedule 

14 Para 8 (3)) 
 
3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of 

principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” 
which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority propose to consider 
in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.   
 

3.2 Statement of Principles 
  
3.2.1 This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 

paragraph 8 of Schedule 14 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the 
measures that the council will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a 
prize gaming permit.  This will allow the council to better determine the suitability of the 
applicant and the premises for a permit. 

 
3.2.2 Within this process the council will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to 

demonstrate that: 
❑ they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit 
❑ they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote 
❑ the licensing objectives, and 
❑ they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought. 
 

3.2.3 This licensing authority will expect the applicant to set out the types of gaming that he or 
she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  
❑ that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations;  
❑ and that the gaming offered is within the law. 
❑ clear policies that outline steps to be taken to protection children from harm. 

 
3.2.4 In making its decision on an application for a prize gaming permit the licensing authority 

does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 
8(3)). 

 
3.2.5 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the 

council will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed 
in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate. 

 
3.3 Prize gaming permits 

 
3.3.1 Section 288 defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not 

determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the 
gaming.  The operator will determine the prizes before play commences.  Prize gaming 

page 59



 

34 
 

can often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of bingo is 
offered and the prizes are displayed. 

 
3.3.2  A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the council to authorise the provision of 

facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises.  
 
3.3.3 Applicants should be aware of the conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which prize 

gaming permit holders must comply.  The conditions in the Act are: 
❑ the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 
❑ all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 

the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed 
on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made 
public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

❑ the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and 

❑ participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 
3.3.4 In line with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, the 

council can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in this 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application. 

 
3.4 Supporting documents 
 
3.4.1 The council will require the following supporting documents to be served with all prize 

gaming permit applications: 
 
❑ proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, photo style 

driving licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or 
over) 

❑ proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable evidence 
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document 

❑ the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] (the 
disclosure must have been issued within the previous 3 months).  This will be used 
to check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act.) – Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and 
Barring Service (DBS). For further details visit their website: 
https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record 

❑ A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items:  
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances 

and exits to the building and any internal doorways  
(iii) The location where any prize gaming will take place (including any seating 

and tables) and the area where any prizes will be displayed 
(iv) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises 
(v) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 

premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area 
(vi) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines 
(vii) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars 
(viii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 

elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises 
(ix) the location of any public toilets in the building  

 
Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale 
with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 1:100. 

 

page 60

https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record


 

35 
 

3.5 Safeguarding and Protection of Children  
 
3.5.1 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The council will assess 
these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should (depending on the 
particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff 
relating to the following: 
❑ maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that 

any truant children can be reported 
❑ employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 

attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school 
❑ employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods 

where children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms 
and summer holidays 

❑ maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the 
vicinity of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels 
during these times 

❑ display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on 
the premises e.g. toilets 

❑ maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to 
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being 
unruly or young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register 
should be used to detect any trends which require attention by the management of 
the premises.) 

❑ ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult. 
❑ Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied 
❑ The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for 

all staff that will be working closely with children. 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures – for example training manuals or 
other similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. 

 
3.5.2 East Devon District Council has a legal duty to work together with other statutory bodies 

and voluntary agencies to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  
 

3.6 Protection of Vulnerable Persons 
 
3.6.1 The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the section in the 
council’s ‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise 
themselves with who the council considers vulnerable.  The council will assess these 
policies and procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular 
permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the 
following: 
❑ display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines 
❑ display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises 
❑ training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to 

maintain a sense of awareness of how much (for example how long) customers 
are gambling, as part of measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable 

❑ consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines.  (including the 
display of Gamcare stickers on any such machines.) 
 

page 61



 

36 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures – for example training manuals or 
other similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. 
 
 

3.7 Other miscellaneous issues 
 
3.7.1  The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures 

(depending on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder 
and the possibility of public nuisance: 
❑ maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the 

premises 
❑ keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy 
❑ ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause 

nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises 
❑ consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the 

congregation of children and youths. 
 

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures – for example training manuals or 
other similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application. 

page 62



 

37 
 

4 Club Gaming and Club Gaming Machine Permits 
 
4.1 Members’ clubs may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Gaming Machine Permit.  

The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B3A or B4, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance 
as prescribed in regulations, namely pontoon and chemin de fer.  This is in addition to 
the exempt gaming authorised under section 269 of the Act.  Alternatively, a member’s 
club (but not commercial clubs) can apply for a Club Gaming Machine Permit which 
will only enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories 
B3A or B4, C or D). 

 
4.2 Commercial clubs are not permitted to provide non-machine gaming (other than exempt 

gaming under section 269 of the Act) which means that they should only apply for a Club 
Gaming Machine Permit.  However, they are not able to site category B3A gaming 
machines offering lottery games in their club. 

 
4.3 Clubs which hold a club premises certificate under section 72 of the Licensing Act 2003 

are exempt from the stricter vetting process that apply for the normal application for Club 
Gaming and Club Machine Permits.  Under this fast-track procedure there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling Commission or the police, and 
the grounds upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.  This is because 
the club or institute will already have been through a licensing process in relation to its 
club premises certificate under the 2003 Act, and it is therefore unnecessary to impose 
the full requirements of Schedule 12.  Commercial clubs cannot hold club premises 
certificates under the Licensing Act 2003 and so cannot use the fast-track procedure. 

 
4.4 With the exception of clubs that hold club premises certificates under section 72 of the 

Licensing Act 2003 the Licensing Authority will need to satisfy itself that the club meets 
the requirements of the Gambling Act 2005 to hold a club gaming permit or a club gaming 
machine permit.  In order to do this, it will require proof of additional information from the 
operator, for example:  

 
❑ Is there a list of committee members and evidence of their election by club members? 
❑ Are there minutes of previous meetings (where appropriate)? 
❑ Is the primary activity of the club something other than gaming? 
❑ Are the club’s profits retained solely for the benefit of the club’s members? 
❑ Are there 25 or more members? 
❑ Are the addresses of members of the club genuine domestic addresses and do most 

members live reasonably locally to the club? 
❑ Do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet? 
❑ Do guest arrangements link each guest to a member? 
❑ Is the 48 hour rule being applied for membership and being granted admission being 

adhered to (the 48 hour rule not being applicable for commercial clubs)? 
❑ Are there annual club accounts available for more than one year? 
❑ How is the club advertised and listed in directories and on the internet? 
❑ Are children permitted in the club? 
❑ Does the club have a constitution and can it provide evidence that the constitution 

was approved by members of the club at an annual or special general meeting? 

 
4.5 When examining the club’s constitution, the Licensing Authority would expect to see 

evidence of the following:  

 
❑ Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club? 
❑ Are the aims of the club set out in the constitution? 

page 63



 

38 
 

❑ Are there shareholders or members?  Shareholders indicate a business venture 
rather than a non-profit making club. 

❑ Is the club permanently established?  (Clubs cannot be temporary). 
❑ Are there suitable rules as to the election and admission to the club of new members? 
❑ What is the usual duration of membership? 
❑ Can people join with a temporary membership?  What is the usual duration of 

membership? 
❑ Are there long term club membership benefits? 
❑ Is there a provision for annual general meetings? 
❑ Is there a provision for the election of officers? 

 
4.6 Aside from bridge and whist clubs, clubs may not be established wholly or mainly for the 

purposes of gaming.  The Licensing Authority will consider such factors as:  
 

❑ How many nights a week gaming is provided; 
❑ How the gaming is advertised; 
❑ What stakes and prizes are offered; 
❑ Whether there is evidence of leagues with weekly, monthly or annual  winners; 
❑ Whether there is evidence of members who do not participate in gaming; 
❑ Whether there are teaching sessions to promote gaming such as poker; 
❑ Where there is a tie-in with other clubs offering gaming through tournaments and 

leagues; 
❑ Whether there is sponsorship by gaming organisations; 
❑ Whether participation fees are within limits.  

 
4.7 Supporting documents 
 
4.7.1 In order for the Licensing Authority to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements 

of the Gambling Act 2005 as described in paragraphs 4.4 to 4.6 to hold a club gaming 
permit or a club gaming machine permit the applicant/club will be expected to supply 
documentation that includes evidence that the club has elected officers, minutes of 
meetings and particularly those of annual general meetings.  The documentation will 
include where appropriate: 
❑ A copy of the club’s constitution and a copy of the general/annual meeting that 

agreed the constitution. 
❑ In the case of a club formed within the past two years a copy of the minutes of the 

inauguration meeting and minutes of any subsequent general or annual general 
meetings. 

❑ Where the club has existed for more than two years a copy of the minutes of the last 
two annual general meetings and general meetings held during the previous two 
years. 

❑ A full copy of the club’s list of members including their addresses. 
❑ A list of committee members and their positions within the club. 
❑ A copy of the club’s accounts for the last two years.  Where a club is unable to 

provide this information because it has only recently been formed the Licensing 
Authority will expect an appropriate set of accounts for the time the club has been 
in operation. 

 
4.7.2 The Licensing Authority will require a plan of the premises for which the permit is sought 

to be served with all club gaming and club gaming machine permit applications.  The 
plan should show the following items:  
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances and exits 

to the building and any internal doorways  

page 64



 

39 
 

(ii) where any gaming machines are positioned and the particular type of machines to 
be provided 

(iii) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises 
(iv) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines 
(v) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns, pillars or 

serveries 
(vi) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, elevators, 

balconies or lifts in the premises 
(vii) the location of any public toilets in the building  

 
Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale 
with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 1:100. 

 
4.8 Many applications are dealt with by delegated authority to officers however should it be 

necessary for an application for a permit to be determined by a Sub Committee of the 
Licensing and Enforcement Committee members will expect to be able to speak to and 
or question the club on aspects of its operation.  To that end it will be expected that an 
officer of the club would attend and be prepared to answer questions at any meeting 
arranged to determine the application.  

 
4.9 Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that: 

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club 
or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit 
for which it has applied; 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons; 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 

 
4.10 In the case of the ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold 

a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10 
and paragraph 25.41 of the GC Guidance) there is no opportunity for objections to be 
made by the Gambling Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an 
authority can refuse a permit are reduced to the following: 
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 

under schedule 12; 
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 

gaming; or 
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last 

ten years has been cancelled." 
 
4.11 The Licensing Authority will expect the holders of club gaming or club gaming machine 

permits when applying to vary them to comply with all the relevant requirements set out 
in this section as if the application was for a new permit. 

  

4.12 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B3A 
or B4 or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant 
provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines. 

  

page 65



 

40 
 

5 Temporary Use Notices 
 
5.1 Temporary use notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 

premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily 
for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might be suitable for a temporary use 
notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference 
centres and sporting venues. 

 
5.2 This licensing authority can only grant a temporary use notice to a person or company 

holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.  
 
5.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 

authorised by temporary use notices, and at the time of writing this Statement the 
relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Act (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) 
state that temporary use notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or 
equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which 
in practice means poker tournaments. 

 
5.4 There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.  "The meaning 

of "premises" in part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling Commissions 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with "premises", the definition of "a set of 
premises" will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is 
given.  In the Act "premises" is defined as including "any place". 

 
5.5 In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", the 

licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and 
control of the premises. 

 
5.6 This licensing authorityies expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect 

would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities.  

 
6 Occasional Use Notices 
 
6.1 Occasional use notices enable betting on a track for up to eight days a year 

 without a premises licence 
 
6.2 The licensing authority has very little discretion regarding these notices aside from 

ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  This 
licensing authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to serve the notice.  

 
6.3 Further advice is available from the Gambling Commission’s website at Occasional 

Use Notices (OUNs) 
(gamblingcommission.gov.uk)www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Occasional-Use-
Notices-OUNs.aspx 

 
 
7 Small Society Lotteries  
 
7.1  Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating licence or is an 

exempt lottery.  The Licensing Authority will register and administer small society 
lotteries (as defined).  Promoting or facilitating a lottery will fall within 2 categories:  

page 66

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/page/occasional-use-notices-ouns
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/page/occasional-use-notices-ouns
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/page/occasional-use-notices-ouns


 

41 
 

❑ licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling Commission); 
and  

❑ exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority) 

 
7.2  Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the Gambling 

Commission and these are: 

❑ small society lotteries; 

❑ incidental non-commercial lotteries; 

❑ private lotteries; 

❑ private society lotteries; 

❑ work lotteries; 

❑ residents’ lotteries; 

❑ customer lotteries; 
 
7.3 East Devon District Council will register and administer small society lotteries as 

defined under the Act.  Advice regarding small society lotteries and the definitions of 
the above exempt lotteries is available from the Gambling Commission website: 
Society lotteries 
(gamblingcommission.gov.uk)www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Small-society-
lotteries.aspx 

 
7.4  This licensing authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 

responsibilities for small society lotteries.  This authority considers that the following list, 
although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator: 

❑ submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three months 
after the date on which the lottery draw was held); 

❑ submission of incomplete or incorrect returns; 

❑ breaches of the limits for small society lotteries. 
 
8 Vessels 

 
8.1 The licensing authority when considering applications for premises licences in respect 

of vessels normally berthed in East Devon will give particular weight to the views of the 
Maritime and Coastguard Agency in respect of promoting the licensing objectives.  
Where in the opinion of the licensing authority any of the three objectives are 
undermined, and this cannot be resolved through the imposition of conditions, the 
application will be refused.  

 

page 67

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/page/society-lotteries
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/page/society-lotteries


 

42 
 

Appendix A 
Relevant Authorities’ Contact Details 
 

Responsible Authority Contacts -  
 
The list of Responsible Authorities and their contact details may change where additional 
responsible authorities are designated by regulations from the Secretary of State or existing 
Responsible Authorities change their address (last updated 09.2015).   
 
An up to date list of Responsible Authorities relating to East Devon with their contact details 
can be obtained by accessing the East Devon District Council’s Licensing pages on the 
Council’s website or by request to the Council’s Licensing Office by emailing 
licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk  
 

 
East Devon Licensing Authority 
The Licensing Manager 
East Devon District Council 
Council Offices 
Blackdown House, Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton     
EX14 1EJ 
 

The Gambling Commission 
Victoria Square House 
Victoria Square 
Birmingham 
B2 4BP 
 

Devon & Cornwall Police 
Licensing Department 
Devon & Cornwall Constabulary 
Launceston Police Station  
Moorland Road 
Launceston  
PL15 7HY  

 
Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue Service 
East Devon Group Business Safety 
Middlemoor Fire Station 
Sidmouth Road 
EXETER 
EX2 7AP 
 
Devon Safeguarding Children PartnershipArea Child Protection Committee and Local 
Safeguarding Children Board 
CP Checks 
MASH 
PO BOX 723 
Exeter 
EX1 9QS 
 
Environmental Health (Environmental Health and Parking Services Manager) 

page 68

mailto:licensing@eastdevon.gov.uk


 

43 
 

(Nuisance, Public Health & Health & Safety) 
Environmental Health Service 
East Devon District Council 
Council Offices 
Blackdown House 
Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 
EX14 1EJ 
 
Head of Planning 
Planning & Countryside Service 
East Devon District Council 
Council Offices 
Blackdown House 
Border Road 
Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 
EX14 1EJ 
 
HM Customs and Excise 
HM Revenue and Customs 
Excise Processing Teams 
BX9 1GL 
 
Additional Responsible Authority Contacts for vessels – 
Maritime and Coastguard Agency  
(For attention of Mr Tony Heslop) 
Plymouth Marine Office 
Western Region 
New Fish Market, 
Fish Quay 
PLYMOUTH 
PL4 0LH 
  

page 69



 

44 
 

Appendix B 
Glossary of Terms 
 
DCMS - Department for Digital, Culture, Media, and Sport 
 
An Interested Party – is a person, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority who: 
  
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b). 

 
Responsible Authority –  
(i) The Licensing Authority 
(ii) The Gambling Commissioner 
(iii) Devon & Cornwall Police  
(iv) The Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue Service 
(v) The local planning authority within the meaning given by the Town and Country Planning 

act 1990 (c.8) for any area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated 
(vi) The local authority by which statutory functions are exercisable in any area in which the 

premises are wholly or partly situated in relation to minimising or preventing the risk of 
pollution of the environment or of harm to human health 

(vi) A body which is designated in writing for the purpose of this paragraph, by the licensing 
authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated, as competent to 
advise the authority about the protection of children from harm: 

(vii) And any other person prescribed by regulations by the Secretary of State. 

 
 
The following comprises a glossary of terminology used within the statement of licensing 
principles.  Terms defined within the statement itself, or at length in the Gambling Act 2005, 
have not been included. 
 
Adult Gaming Centre 

A premises where the provision of Category B, C and D gaming machine facilities for 
adult customers is authorised by the Licensing Authority. 
 

(Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit  
Permit issued by Licensing Authority allowing more than two Category C or D gaming 
machines to be used on Alcohol-licensed premises 

 
Betting Machine 

A machine that accepts bets on live events, such as horse racing, as a substitute for 
placing bets over the counter. 

 
Betting Premises 

Premises where the provision of betting facilities is authorised by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Bingo Premises 

Premises authorised by the Licensing Authority where bingo, either cash or prize bingo, 
may take place. 
 

Casino Premises 

page 70



 

45 
 

Premises authorised by the Licensing Authority where persons are given an opportunity 
to participate in casino games i.e. games of chance, which are not equal chance gaming. 
 

 
Children 

Means individuals who are less than 16 years old. Most gambling is illegal for anyone 
under 18.  

 
Club Gaming Permit 

Permit issued by the Licensing Authority that authorises the provision of games of 
chance and gaming machines on premises from which a members club operates. 

 
Club Machine Permit 

Permit issued by the Licensing Authority which authorises a club to have up to three 
gaming machines on the premises. 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 

Premises where the provision of Category C and D gaming machines is authorised by 
the Licensing Authority. 

 
Gambling Commission 

The body which regulate all commercial gambling in Great Britain. 
 
Gaming Machine 

A machine that is designed or adapted for use by people to gamble.  Such machines are 
classified in 4 categories, A, B, C and D. Category D has the lowest level of charge and 
prizes, whilst the other categories increase in value up to Category A, which has no limits 
to charges or prizes. 

 
Gaming Machine Permit 

Permit issued by the Licensing Authority regulating the operation of gambling machines. 
 
Licensing and Enforcement Committee 

The committee that has been established by the Licensing Authority to discharge its 
licensing functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
Licensing Manager 

The Officer appointed by the Licensing Authority to carry out functions and duties 
delegated by the Licensing Authority. 
 

Operator 
The holder of a licence issued by the Gambling Commission or a Licensing Authority, 
being an individual or company which provides facilities for certain types of gambling. 

 
Personal Licence  

A licence issued to an individual by the Gambling Commission, authorising the holder 
to perform a specified management office or specified operational function in 
connection with the provision of facilities for gambling.  

 
Premises Licence  

A licence issued by the Licensing Authority that authorises the provision of gambling 
facilities on specified premises.  

 
 
Prize Gaming  

page 71



 

46 
 

Gaming is prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not determined by the 
number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming.  

 
Prize Gaming Permit  

A permit issued by the Licensing Authority to authorise the provision of facilities for 
gaming with prizes on specified premises.  

 
Provisional Statement  

An authorisation issued by the Licensing Authority where the applicant expects 
premises to be constructed or altered in accordance with plans submitted, or expects 
to acquire a right to occupy the premises.  

 
Regulators Code  

Code of practice issued by the Government to ensure that regulatory best practice is 
adopted and carried out by regulators.  

 
Relevant Representation  

A representation received from a responsible authority or an interested party that 
relates to the licensing objectives, or that raises issues under this statement, the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance or codes of practice.  

 
Remote Gambling  

Defined by the Gambling Act 2005 as gambling in which persons participate by the use 
of remote communication including the internet, telephone, television, radio or any 
other kind of electronic or other technology for facilitating communication. 

 
Remote Operating Licence  

Issued by the Gambling Commission to individuals or companies running a gambling 
service through remote communication (including online gambling) and any part of 
your remote equipment is based in Great Britain or where remote equipment is based 
outside Great Britain and you advertise remote gambling to consumers in Britain 
through a British-facing business. 
 

Review  
The process by which a Licensing Authority may, either of its own volition or on the 
request of a third party, determine whether any action should be taken in relation to the 
operation of a premises licence.  
 

Temporary Use Notice  
A notice which permits the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises 
licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for 
providing facilities for gambling.  

 
Track  

Sites (such as a horse racecourse or dog track) where races or other sporting events 
take place.  

 
Young Person  

Means individuals who are aged less than 18 years old and 16 years and over 
 

  

page 72



 

47 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

GAMING MACHINES – CATEGORIES AND ENTITLEMENT 
The summary of gaming machine categories and entitlements can be found on the 
Gambling Commission’s website online at Appendix B: Summary of gaming machine 

categories and entitlements - Gambling Commission 
 
 

 

 

page 73

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/appendix-b-summary-of-gaming-machine-categories-and-entitlements
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/appendix-b-summary-of-gaming-machine-categories-and-entitlements


 

48 
 

APPENDIX D 
 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND VULNERABLE ADULTS 
 
East Devon District Council along with other districts across Devon have produced and adopted 
a joint safeguarding policy designed to protect children and vulnerable adults. Safeguarding is 
a statutory responsibility placed on this and all councils. This council is committed to tackle child 
sexual exploitation and trafficking by working together with key partners. 
  
It is important to ensure that functions are discharged with regard to safeguarding and promoting 
the welfare of children. The joint safeguarding policy states in relation to councils that it is our 
responsibility under the Children Act 2004, which places a duty on public bodies, including 
district councils to ensure that our functions are discharged with regard to the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children.  

 
Devon District Councils believe that all children, young people and adults have the right to be 
safe, happy and healthy and deserve protection from abuse.  The councils are committed to 
safeguarding from harm all children, young people and adults with care and support needs using 
any council services and involved in any of their activities, and to treat them with respect during 

their dealings with the councils, our partners and contractors. 

  

 
How gambling premises licence, permit holders and their employees can 
support Safeguarding   
 
Gambling establishment licence and permit holders and their employees are in a good position 
to help identify those subject of or at risk of sexual exploitation because, through the operation 
of certain gambling activities, licence and permit holders and their employees regularly come 
into contact with children, young and vulnerable people. This means that licence and permit 
holders and their employees are in an ideal position to help protect young and vulnerable 
people. 
 
Operators, licence and permit holders and their employees should consider and have regard 
safeguarding measures particularly when encountering young and vulnerable people in 
gambling premises by establishing: 

❑ Do any customers appear to be under 18 years old? 
❑ Are they with a much older person and appear to be in a relationship? 
❑ Do they appear are under the influence of alcohol or drugs? 
❑ Are children/young people being brought regularly to your premises by older people? If 

so, ask yourself why? 
 

The provision of staff training, awareness or development opportunities should be a 
consideration to improve their knowledge of skills in this area. 
 
Operators, licence and permit holders and their employees with any reason to suspect a person 
is being abused or at risk of abuse now has a responsibility to report those concerns. 
 
Information may be shared in confidence with Devon and Cornwall Police (by telephone: 101 or 
email: 101@dc.police.uk) and Devon Safeguarding Children Partnership (by telephone: 0345 
155 1071 or emergency out of hours 0345 600 0388). 

page 74

mailto:101@dc.police.uk


Appendix B 

Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing 2025-2028 proposed consultee list: 

❑ Environmental Health Authority for the district 

❑ Devon and Cornwall Police 

❑ Devon County Council Children and Young Peoples Services 

❑ Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service 

❑ East and Mid Devon Community Safety Partnership 

❑ Planning Authority for the district  

❑ Gamblers Anonymous 

❑ Gambling Commission 

❑ Gamcare  

❑ HM Commissioners of Custom and Excise 

❑ Representatives & Association of British Bookmakers 

 

page 75


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Committee Update – Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Taxis & General Licensing
	8 Hackney carriage fare review update
	170724 APPENDIX A - proposed varied table of fares
	170724 APPENDIX B - public notice
	170724 APPENDIX C - hackney carriage fare table effective from 180624

	9 Draft Statement of Gambling Policy 2025- 2028
	170724 Appendix A-DRAFT-Gambling Policy 2025-2028
	170724 Appendix B- proposed consultee list


